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Dear Fellow Shareholders

We are steadfast in
our commitment to
building and protecting
the long-term value

of the company.

Looking back on my first year as chair of the
Wells Fargo Board of Directors, I am encouraged
by the progress the company and our board
have made as we build a better Wells Fargo for
the future.

Before I talk about the board, I'd like to recognize
the tireless efforts of our management team.
Tim Sloan became CEO just over two years ago,
and since then, with the full support of the board,
he has been driving transformational change
at the company.

As CEO, Tim’s first priority was to initiate an
extensive review to identify, understand, and
resolve the problems of the past; to provide
appropriate remediation to customers who
were harmed; and to be transparent about our
progress. We discovered a variety of issues, and
even though the specific causes may have been
different, some common themes emerged, such

as the company’s history of running businesses

individually and the decentralized nature of
certain control functions. I believe this review
was necessary to help us serve our customers
better. In the past two years, we have centralized
many aspects of our organizational structure,
strengthened risk management, and improved
governance practices and oversight. Going
forward, we believe maintaining a holistic view
of the company and focusing on operational
excellence will result in continued positive change.

Organizationally, Tim has pulled together a
strong management team that blends Wells Fargo
veterans with experienced talent from elsewhere.
Three of his direct reports are from outside
the company, and two more — the company’s
new head of Technology and chief auditor — will
join Wells Fargo in April. Most of his other direct
reports are in new or expanded roles. Together,
the leadership team is executing plans to
streamline the company’s operating structure,
better define roles and responsibilities, fill key
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positions, enhance the way we serve customers,
strengthen risk and compliance measures, and
instill our Vision, Values & Goals uniformly
into the culture of Wells Fargo. In addition, the
management team has redesigned the strategy,
leadership, and incentive structure of the retail
bank and the Wells Fargo Auto business to align

with a more forward-looking consumer approach.

One important early indicator of the success

of these efforts is that “Customer Loyalty” and
“Overall Satisfaction with Most Recent Visit”

Community Bank branch survey scores reached

24-month highs in December 2018. At the same

time, voluntary team member attrition in 2018

improved to its lowest level in six years.

Early in 2018, we agreed to a consent order with
the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System and consent orders with the Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency and the Consumer
Financial Protection Bureau. To make sure we are
meeting our commitments under the consent
orders, the board and senior management are
engaged in regular dialogue with our regulators.
Clear communication is necessary so that the
comprehensive changes we are making across
the company will sufficiently strengthen our
governance and oversight, as well as operational
and compliance risk management. Although we
are devoting a significant amount of resources
to these efforts, we also have been delivering on
our ongoing cost-reduction initiatives. Expense
savings from simplifying and centralizing
operations help fund our investments in areas
such as risk management and technology.

We continue to have constructive dialogue
with the Federal Reserve on an ongoing basis
to clarify expectations, receive feedback, and
assess progress under the consent order, and
we are now planning to operate under the
asset cap through the end of 2019. Making
the changes necessary to ensure we meet

regulatory expectations remains a top priority,
as is continuing to serve our customers and help
them succeed financially.

OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The board operates very differently today than
it did a year ago. Following our independent
board investigation into retail sales practices
and our 2017 board self-evaluation, we
identified several areas in which we could
enhance board oversight. As a result, we added
more directors with expertise in financial
services; adjusted committee structures,
charters, and membership; enhanced agenda
planning; and worked with management to
better focus materials provided to the board.
Mary Jo White, a senior partner at the law firm
of Debevoise & Plimpton LLP and former chair
of the Securities and Exchange Commission,
was engaged by the board to facilitate its 2017
self-evaluation and work with the board on
its 2018 self-evaluation to help assess our
progress. Regular self-assessment provides us

a mechanism for continuous improvement.

With 13 directors, our board is smaller than in
the recent past. More than half of the current
directors joined the board in 2017 or later.
These new directors came ready to work and
began to contribute immediately. The new
directors have brought important experience in
several areas, including financial services, other
highly regulated industries, and consumer brand
management. With board turnover, we have
also refreshed our board committee leadership.
Since September 2017, six of seven standing
board committees have new committee chairs.
Today, the average tenure of our independent
directors is less than four years. Even as the
board and its committees have experienced much
change, we remain focused on responding to
stakeholders, enhancing oversight, and creating
long-term value for shareholders.



In January 2019, Wayne Hewett joined our
board. Throughout his career as a CEO and
senior executive, Wayne has had a record of
success managing strategic priorities in complex
business environments. His background as an
industrial engineer and experience with data-
driven process improvement methodologies
will be especially valuable as we focus on

operational excellence.

Karen Peetz will retire from the board at our
Annual Meeting of Shareholders in April
2019. Karen has been effective at framing risk
management imperatives and insisting on
individual accountability, especially in her role
as chair of the Risk Committee. Since Karen
joined the Risk Committee, we have brought
on to our board and Risk Committee additional
expertise in risk management of financial
institutions. By announcing her retirement
decision early, Karen has again demonstrated
her commitment to responsible governance
by ensuring a smooth transition of Risk
Committee chair to Maria Morris, who will
continue the work Karen started.

OVERSIGHT

Our board oversight in 2018 focused heavily
on identifying, understanding, and resolving
issues within the company, including
concerns identified by our regulators.

We are also looking to the future. In his letter
to shareholders, Tim details management
strategies to achieve our six company goals
of becoming the financial services leader in
customer service and advice, team member
engagement, innovation, risk management,
corporate citizenship, and shareholder value.
Going forward, board oversight of those
goals will emphasize the following:

B Meeting regulatory expectations.
We recognize the importance of fully

satisfying regulatory expectations. We
are specifically focused on satisfying the
requirements of the company’s outstanding
consent orders. But more broadly, we are
enhancing our risk and reporting systems
to meet the heightened regulatory
expectations for systemically important
financial institutions and our own goal of
industry leadership in risk management.
We are engaging in frequent and open
communication with our regulators about

our progress.

Enhancing risk management.

Wells Fargo has been and remains an
industry leader in credit, market, and
liquidity risk management. Over the years,
the company has demonstrated an ability
to manage through difficult economic
conditions, including the 2008 financial
crisis, but management of compliance and
operational risks needed improvement.
We have new leadership in the chief risk
officer, chief compliance officer, head of
Regulatory Relations, and chief operational
risk officer roles. They have developed and
are busy implementing plans to continue
building our operational and compliance
risk management systems to a level that
matches our business, structure, and
strategies. These plans include enhancing
management-level governance committee
structures, oversight, monitoring and
controls, and escalation processes and
procedures. Our objective is to build an
industry-leading risk management program.

Operational excellence. Many of our past
operational risk problems stemmed from
weaknesses in underlying operations.
In 2018, management launched a project
to inventory and map all our business
processes. While identifying risk areas



will improve our control testing and
monitoring functions, reducing the number
and complexity of our business processes
also offers the potential for improving
the efficiency and effectiveness of core
operations. We expect this work to
improve the customer and team member
experience, reduce operating costs, and

enhance risk management.

B Oversight of culture and human capital
management. We continue to assess
and shape the company’s culture, with
an emphasis on such areas as ethics,
training and development, and diversity
and inclusion. One of the guiding values
of Wells Fargo is “people as a competitive
advantage.” We expect to devote a
substantial amount of board attention to
talent management strategies, including
plans to attract, retain, reward, develop,
and care for the very best people available.
We recognize the importance of rewarding
outstanding performance and holding
team members accountable.

m Technology. New generations of customers
and team members expect technology to
work seamlessly and intuitively. Thoughtful
use of emerging technologies can enable
quantum leaps in innovation and efficiency.
At the same time, cyber risk is at an all-time
high. We want to make sure all our systems
operate on up-to-date platforms, are able to
process and protect massive amounts of data,
and contribute to our vision of operational
excellence and leadership in innovation.

We have already made progress in each
of these areas, and we will continue to focus
on them in 2019.

STAKEHOLDER INTERACTION

For the past several years, our independent
directors have participated in a shareholder
engagement program to help us better
understand our shareholders’ views on key
corporate governance and other topics.
The candid feedback of our shareholders
helps us define priorities, assess progress,
and enhance our corporate governance
practices. In 2018, I met with shareholders
representing more than 35 percent of our
company’s common stock to discuss our
governance approach.

Our board is also focused on corporate
citizenship, which is overseen by the board’s
Corporate Responsibility Committee.

The committee reviews environmental and
social governance practices and policies.
Following our 2018 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders, Corporate Responsibility
Committee members met with members

of our external Stakeholder Advisory Council
to seek feedback and insights on current
and emerging issues important to them.
Tim and I continued to meet with the council
during the year to discuss such varied topics
as mortgage lending, services for unbanked or
underbanked consumers, our efforts to help
customers avoid and reduce overdraft fees,
environmental commitments, human rights,

and reputational risk issues.

One of our most significant responses to
shareholder feedback was the publication of

a Business Standards Report on our website

in early 2019. The report was the culmination
of engagement with a group of stakeholders
led by the Interfaith Center on Corporate
Responsibility, which requested the report.
The report discusses our business practices and
the many fundamental changes we have made —


https://www.wellsfargo.com/about/corporate/governance/business-standards-report/

and continue to make — as we transform our
company. The report also details what we have
learned and what we have changed as we work
to improve the company and rebuild trust.

I encourage you to read it.

“The entire board remains
excited and optimistic about
Wells Fargo.”

LONG-TERM SHAREHOLDER VALUE
Over the past few years, management and the

board have devoted a substantial amount of time

and attention to the problems we have found
in our company. Finding, fixing, and atoning for

those problems is necessary to build our future

on a strong foundation and is required to meet the

expectations of our regulators and regain the

trust of our customers, team members, and the

public. Through it all, we have also delivered solid

financial performance. The company earned
$22.4 billion in 2018, or $4.28 per diluted
common share, the highest earnings per share
in the company’s history. Our ability to sustain
solid financial performance in the face of our
recent challenges is a testament to the financial
durability provided by our core franchise and
diversified business model.

Our capital levels are well in excess of regulatory
minimums. As part of the company’s goal of
delivering long-term shareholder value, we're
committed to returning capital to shareholders
when appropriate. During 2018 we returned a
record $25.8 billion in capital to shareholders
through common stock dividends and net share
repurchases, representing a 78 percent increase
from 2017. In January 2019, we increased the
quarterly common stock dividend from 43 cents
to 45 cents per share.

We do not take our strengths for granted.
We intend to continue to strengthen risk
management, streamline and simplify
operations, and innovate responsibly so we
can build on our strengths. The goal of all
these efforts is to become even more customer-
focused, innovative, and better positioned for
the future — creating long-term value for

our shareholders.

IN APPRECIATION

On behalf of the directors of your company,
thank you for choosing to invest in Wells Fargo
and for your continued faith in the future of our
company. Even though much work remains, we
believe we are on the right path and are making
real progress. We are confident we have a CEO
and management team with the vision and
strategy to achieve our goals — and to fix the
problems of the past while building a strong
foundation for the future. The changes the
company is making are showing positive signs,

and we are confident in our success.

I encourage you to carefully review this
report, our 2019 proxy statement, and the
other materials the company makes available
to shareholders to better understand the
opportunities and challenges ahead and
Wells Fargo’s work to execute its strategy.
We are steadfast in our commitment to
building and protecting the long-term value
of the company.

The entire board remains excited and
optimistic about Wells Fargo.

%[MC?QM&___

ELIZABETH A. DUKE

Chair, Board of Directors
Wells Fargo & Company

February 15, 2019






To Our Owners

| am as optimistic as
ever about the future
of Wells Fargo.

We have a clear vision and deeply held values.
Our company continues to produce strong
financial results, we have robust goals in place,
and I believe we have the best team members
in the business to execute on our goals for our
70 million customers.

We are building on a truly remarkable history.
Wells Fargo has prospered for 166 years, an
incredibly durable franchise. Our symbol, the
stagecoach, was not only transformative in its
time, it also signifies forward momentum. Today
we are maintaining that momentum in many
ways, including a new brand strategy inspired by
human ingenuity and featuring a more modern

version of the stagecoach.

In 2018, we further strengthened the foundation
for our road ahead through new products and
services, improvements in the customer
experience, greater operational efficiency, and

deepened commitments to our communities

and our team members. We continued to make
progress in our efforts to address past issues
and rebuild trust with stakeholders. While we
have more work to do, we have learned from our
mistakes and are making fundamental changes
as we transform Wells Fargo for the future.

THE DURABILITY OF THE FRANCHISE

I believe Wells Fargo is prepared for the future —
for evolving customer preferences, for emerging
technologies, for new risks, and more — and [ am
confident that our underlying strengths provide
a very strong foundation for success. These
strengths include our diversified business model,
which has enabled us to perform well through

a variety of interest rate and economic cycles.

We also have industry-leading distribution, both
physical and digital. We are a longtime leader in
providing innovation for our customers, and our

pace of innovation has increased.

TIMOTHY J. SLOAN | Chief Executive Officer and President, Wells Fargo & Company



We have a large customer base, serving one in
three U.S. households, and our valuable low-cost

deposit franchise includes $1.3 trillion in deposits.

We offer a broad product set at scale, including
being among the largest lenders in the U.S., and
our outstanding team is committed to serving

our customers.

Our strong credit discipline has enabled us to
perform well through numerous credit cycles,
and we currently have historically low charge-
offs. We have delivered consistent shareholder
returns and built a strong capital position,
and we remain committed to returning more
capital to shareholders.

In January 2019, we released a Business
Standards Report detailing the actions we have
taken to address past issues and outlining our
business practices and areas of focus as we
move forward. The report addresses how we
are improving our culture, making things
right for customers who were harmed, and
strengthening our risk management and
controls. Titled “Learning from the past,
transforming for the future,” it represents
our commitment to transparency as well as
an important step in engaging and rebuilding
trust with all of our stakeholders.

Every day I meet with people who have a stake
in our success — including customers, team
members, community leaders, investors,
and government leaders. These conversations
are the best part of my day! The feedback I hear
is one way to affirm that we’ve made a lot of
progress in transforming Wells Fargo. We have
work ahead, and we are staying focused on
our six company goals: becoming the financial
services leader in customer service and advice,
team member engagement, innovation, risk
management, corporate citizenship, and
shareholder value.

WE ARE TRANSFORMING

FOR THE FUTURE

The future of the financial services industry
encompasses many different aspects, and

I am confident that Wells Fargo is taking

a comprehensive view.

This year, we have made significant progress on
strengthening our risk management, especially
operational and compliance risk. This is a top
priority for the company and for me. To further
our risk management capabilities, we’ve made a
tremendous investment in people, technology,

infrastructure, and cybersecurity.

We also continue to focus on our culture. It's how
we put our vision and values, the bedrock of our
company, into practice. And that’s how we will
achieve our goals. Culture also means that we
work as a team to hold each other accountable.

In order for Wells Fargo to fulfill its vision of helping
our customers succeed financially, every team

member needs to be living our values every day.

We made several leadership changes in 2018.
For example, we welcomed a new chief risk
officer, Mandy Norton, who brings nearly three
decades of financial industry experience to the
role. Mandy has immediately made her mark
as an experienced and insightful leader who
has driven our risk management work forward

throughout the company.

We announced that Saul Van Beurden, who has
25 years of financial services experience, will fill
the new head of Technology role at our company,
reflecting the importance of centralizing and
elevating that work. And Julie Scammahorn will
join Wells Fargo as chief auditor. Julie brings
significant experience and a proven track record
to this role, having led large audit functions for
global financial services institutions. Saul and
Julie will join our Operating Committee. I also


https://www.wellsfargo.com/about/corporate/governance/business-standards-report/

elevated our head of Human Resources, David
Galloreese, who joined the company in 2018, to
the Operating Committee, reporting to me, and
consolidated our Corporate Philanthropy and
Community Relations work with the Stakeholder
Relations function led by Jim Rowe, who also
reports to me.

“We are making changes to
better serve our customers, as
we continue to put them at the
center of everything we do.”

I am pleased that 2018 was another great year
of innovation for our customers and clients.
We prioritize innovation not in terms of what
we can do, but based on what our customers
tell us they want and need. That means the
continued expansion of services such as
Pay With Wells Fargo®, now in pilot; our online
mortgage application; and Control Tower™.

We are also focused on operational excellence,
which we are driving through every corner of
our business. This effort includes reducing the
number of processes we have for any given
task and assessing the efficiency of those
processes. We are considering where there are
risks in our operations and how we can mitigate
them. We are evaluating the number of platforms
and technology tools we use in our work and
how we can combine and reduce them. And,
finally, we are ensuring that we have the proper
oversight and the proper testing for each of our
processes. Some examples:

m  Wells Fargo Auto, which serves more than
3 million auto loan customers and more
than 11,000 auto dealers, centralized
back-office business functions to create

greater consistency and manage risk. A key
component of the centralization process was
the consolidation of 57 regional business
centers into four regional hubs, which we
completed in 2018. This transformation
was designed to enable us to better serve
our customers and improve our efficiency
by simplifying change delivery, reducing
operational risk, leveraging enterprise
infrastructure and standards, improving
consistency, increasing career development
opportunities for team members, and
creating economies of skill and scale by

co-locating similar functions.

Wealth Management’s Fiduciary Management
Services team instituted a series of enhance-
ments to its client service model in 2018,
including moving to a single point of contact
from a team-based model for serving affluent
fiduciary and trust clients, having newly
assigned relationship managers proactively
reach out to each client, and implementing
an automated workflow tool to provide front
office partners with visibility into servicing
requests. One result is that overall client
loyalty and satisfaction increased more than
10 percentage points.

We're in the process of transforming our
Wholesale Banking division to reduce
duplicative processes and platforms and
break down the silos that exist across
our businesses so we can provide a more
consistent and efficient customer and team
member experience. That should allow us
to do a better job of serving the customer’s
existing and emerging needs. Since I spent
many years of my career in the Wholesale
Banking business, [ know firsthand what
an incredible difference these operational
improvements can make for our team

members and our customers.
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B We have brought together more than 200

team members from 14 teams to create an
Estate Care Center of Excellence, focused on
simplifying the estate settlement process
for survivors when a loved one passes
away. When rollout is complete to all of our
branches, survivors will no longer have to
contact multiple lines of business to deal
with finances. A dedicated team member
will support them throughout the process,
reducing required paperwork and providing
access to new digital self-service capabilities
to simplify settling an estate. In the wake of
the tragic wildfires in Northern California, the
Estate Care Center of Excellence developed
special procedures to assist family members

who lack traditional documentation.

Finally, we've made good progress in making
things right for our customers. We created a
Customer Remediation Center of Excellence
to establish a consistent approach to managing
and executing remediation efforts across
Wells Fargo. This includes strengthening internal
governance and reporting processes to achieve
greater accountability. It also includes investing
in specialized teams dedicated to remediation
efforts and providing them the resources they

need to provide outstanding service to customers.

All of these elements are examples of the
significant milestones we accomplished in 2018.

FINANCIAL REPORT

Our financial results in 2018 were solid.
Wells Fargo generated $22.4 billion in net
income in 2018, or $4.28 per diluted common
share, the highest earnings per common share
in the company’s history. We achieved our
2018 expense target. Expenses declined,
driven by lower operating losses as well as the
progress we’'ve made to reduce expenses while

reinvesting in the business. Revenue declined

as growth in net interest income was more than
offset by a decline in noninterest income.

Credit quality remained strong with our net
charge-off rate near historic lows. Our capital
levels also remained strong, and we returned a
record $25.8 billion to shareholders in 2018,
up 78 percent from 2017, including reducing
our common shares outstanding by 6 percent
in 2018.

With respect to the Federal Reserve consent
order from February 2018, we continue to have
constructive dialogue with the Federal Reserve
on an ongoing basis to clarify expectations,
receive feedback, and assess progress. In order to
have enough time to incorporate this feedback
into our plans in a thoughtful manner, adopt
and implement the final plans as accepted by
the Federal Reserve, and complete the required
third-party reviews, we are planning to operate
under the consent order’s asset cap through the
end of 2019. Making the changes necessary to
ensure we meet regulatory expectations remains
a top priority, as is continuing to serve our
customers and help them succeed financially.
We believe that we can achieve both of these
priorities while we operate under the asset cap.

OUR COMPANY GOALS

More than a year ago, I introduced six company
goals, so everyone at Wells Fargo would be clear
on the most important things we need to do to
continue to move forward. Our goals are rooted
in our vision — to satisfy our customers’ financial
needs and help them succeed financially — and
our company values of doing what’s right for
customers, people as a competitive advantage,

ethics, diversity and inclusion, and leadership.

I am delighted that in 2018 we made very strong
progress toward our goals.



THE VISION, VALUES & GOALS

OF WELLS FARGO

Our Vision

We want to satisfy our customers’ financial
needs and help them succeed financially.

Our Values

B What’s right for customers

B People as a competitive advantage
B Ethics

B Diversity and inclusion

B Leadership

CUSTOMER SERVICE AND ADVICE

We are making changes to better serve our
customers, as we continue to put them at the
center of everything we do. As a company,
we have always emphasized working together
as a team to provide the best service for all
our customers — because no matter the role,

our work affects them.

How we serve our customers’ needs is evolving.
Our Consumer Strategy is a holistic approach
designed to meet our customers’ financial needs
by anticipating and serving every stage of their
financial journey — and it extends across all of

our consumer businesses.

When customers start their financial journey,
they may rely on balance alerts so they can
monitor their checking account status more
closely. (We sent an average of 37 million
monthly zero-balance and customer-specific
balance alerts to our customers last year!)
Or Overdraft Rewind®, which helped more
than 2.3 million customers avoid overdraft
charges in 2018. Eventually, customers

Our Goals

We want to become the financial services
leader in these areas:

Customer service Team member

and advice engagement
Innovation Risk management
Corporate Shareholder
citizenship value

might want an auto, mortgage, or small business
loan; a retirement savings account; or the services
of our wealth management team. Having one
Consumer Strategy means we are with our

customers at every step of their financial lives.

We are continuing to improve the customer
and team member experience within Consumer
Banking with speed, convenience, and new
digital offerings. Our branch survey scores for
“Customer Loyalty” and “Overall Satisfaction
with Most Recent Visit” reached a 24-month
high in December 2018.

The Customer Relationship View, a new customer
relationship platform we developed, gives our
team members a more holistic view of each
customer and saves customers from rehashing
interactions they’ve already had. For example,
one of our bankers in Lubbock, Texas, phoned a
longtime customer to thank him for his business,
and in the course of their conversation, the banker
reminded him that he had more than 64,000

unused credit card points.
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The customer was then advised that he could
redeem the points through our Go Far® Rewards
program. The customer redeemed the points
for cash, which he used to buy plane tickets
for family members so they could visit him
and his wife.

Changes like these help our team members
become better connected with their customers
and maintain their focus on our customers’
needs. Between May and December 2018, our
bankers reached out to 3.3 million customers
to thank them for their business, respond to
their questions, and make appointments for

in-person consultations.

We are also transforming our Wealth and
Investment Management businesses to make
them more client-centric. The changes we
are making are designed to make WIM faster,
simpler, and better for clients, with a focus on
the research, thought leadership, and advice
that WIM clients value. An example is Envision
Scenario, introduced in 2018, which allows
clients to see how changing their investment

decisions can impact their investment goals.

And as [ stated earlier, putting the customer at
the center of everything we do also means that we
make things right for them. So we have worked to
implement a consistent, companywide customer
complaints strategy, using data and analytics so
we can assist our customers with their concerns
more proactively and, when necessary, direct them
to a team member with expertise to understand

their concerns and resolve them.

TEAM MEMBER ENGAGEMENT

I am privileged to meet regularly with our
customers and community leaders, and I hear
their appreciation and praise for our team
members. [ am proud of Wells Fargo’s 259,000
hardworking team members, who take care of

customers every day and demonstrate great
optimism about our future. Our voluntary team
member attrition improved to its lowest level
in six years in 2018. Team members are truly
our greatest asset.

They are also the source of some of our best ideas!
In 2018, we continued to gather their ideas and
feedback through multiple channels, including
surveys, focus groups, our internal team member
portal, and town hall meetings. Our team members
will tell you that I am the biggest cheerleader for
our surveys, because I believe so strongly in the
importance of their feedback. In fact, I think they
get tired of me reminding them to take advantage
of every opportunity to have their voices heard.

Our team members are the face of Wells Fargo,
and they drive our company culture. In 2018,
we introduced a set of clear and common
behavioral expectations for all team members.
These expectations describe how team members
should conduct themselves at work, and this
allows us to more consistently align individual
actions with our Vision, Values & Goals. We help
ensure accountability and measure performance
against these expectations through a single
leadership objective that all team members
had as part of their 2018 performance plans.
A common “One Wells Fargo” culture helps
ensure that we are focused on the right things
to drive our success.

“Team members are truly
our greatest asset.”

Diversity and inclusion, one of our five primary
values, is essential to our success. In order

to satisfy our customers’ financial needs and
help them succeed financially, our team needs to

reflect the diversity of our customers in the U.S.,



which is growing more diverse every day, and
around the world. I also strongly believe that when
you get people with different experiences in a
room or working on a team together, you get better
ideas and better problem solving. I'm proud that
our efforts have been recognized externally by the
Bloomberg Gender Equality Index, DiversityInc,
the Human Rights Campaign, and the National
Organization on Disability.

An example of our focus on diversity and
inclusion in action is our commitment to military
service members and veterans. At any one time,
Wells Fargo has more than 250 team members
on active duty. We support those team members
through financial and other benefits. We value
the leadership and skills of military veterans,
and we have a number of recruiting programs
in place to help us identify and hire veterans.

Our team members are our competitive advantage,
and we continue to invest in them in many ways.
In 2018, we increased the minimum base pay
in the U.S. to $15 an hour, which benefited
approximately 36,000 team members. We also
reviewed pay for team members whose salaries
were at or slightly above the new minimum wage
and increased the base pay for approximately
50,000 team members. Our team members receive
competitive salaries, training and development
offerings, and leadership opportunities. And we
spend approximately $13,000 annually per

U.S. team member to provide affordable health
care options, work-life balance programs, 401 (k)
matching contributions, a discretionary profit-
sharing plan, and family leave. In 2018,
approximately 250,000 team members
worldwide were awarded restricted share rights
equivalent to 50 shares of Wells Fargo stock to
eligible full-time employees, and the equivalent
of 30 shares to eligible part-time employees, with
a two-year vesting period. This ties their success
to what’s important to our shareholders. As I

said above, we seek out team member feedback

regularly so we can measure the effectiveness of
what we offer, and we use team member ideas
and opinions to drive our engagement efforts.

Most important, through their feedback, our team
members remind me how important the work
we do is, because they tell me how much they

care about our customers.

INNOVATION

At Wells Fargo, we are innovating because our
customers are asking for it. They expect us to keep
up with other technological advances they see in
their daily lives. Convenience used to mean a bank
branch on every corner, but now there are a variety
of channels our customers can use to engage
with us: a branch, their phones, online banking,
and more. As customer engagement continues
to grow, we are using customer feedback to drive

new products and services.

An example is the new Wells Fargo Propel®
American Express® Card (page 36). Propel offers
one of the most compelling rewards programs
for no-annual-fee cards, and we’re delighted
with its success so far. It came to life because
our customers and our team members told us
what they wanted.

Our innovation program is focused on five areas that
can help us deliver additional value to our customers.

m  First, we are creating digital account opening

experiences for many of our products so
the experience is simple and fast and helps
customers get the most out of their new
accounts. An example is our online mortgage
application (page 34). Usage of our online
mortgage application saw a steady increase
throughout 2018, with online applications
representing 30 percent of our total retail
applications in December.
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“I am confident that our

strong innovation program
will allow us to continue
to provide lasting value

to customers.”

Second, we are enhancing our payments
capabilities so customers can easily make
payments as well as gain more visibility
into and control over their accounts. For
instance, Zelle®™ allows customers to make
real-time payments to friends and family,
and later this year we plan to complete the
rollout of Pay With Wells Fargo®™, which
displays customers’ most commonly used
payment features on our mobile app home
screen, making it quick and easy to send a
payment, pay a bill, or make a transfer.

Third, we are building personalized experiences
for every customer. For example, Greenhouse®,
our mobile banking app with cash management
expertise for new-to-banking customers,
offers personalized guidance to help customers
save for monthly expenses and manage their
money responsibly, and we expect its rollout
in 20109.

Fourth, we are building capabilities to allow
us to seamlessly serve customers through
multiple channels. We are bringing digital
experiences to our branches to speed
authentication and account opening, and
we offer banking and payment services on
non-Wells Fargo platforms.

Finally, we are building capabilities and
technologies that enable innovation, such as
artificial intelligence, identity management,
distributed ledger, and application
programming interfaces.

Since we centralized our innovation work in 2016,
we have increased the pace of innovation and
new product development. I am confident that
our strong innovation program will allow us to
continue to provide lasting value to customers and
maintain and strengthen our market leadership.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management continues to be a priority

for the company, and, to that end, in 2018 we
continued to invest in technology, infrastructure,
cybersecurity, and people. We have adopted and
are implementing our enhanced risk management
framework. We have added a number of new
leaders to the risk management team, through both
internal and external hires, including more than
3,200 risk management team members hired from
outside the company over the past three years. We
now have more clarity of roles and responsibilities
across the entire company, providing breadth to

our risk management discipline.

We have historically been strong in many areas
of risk management, including credit risk,
market risk, and liquidity risk. We know we
have work to do in compliance and operational
risk, and under Chief Compliance Officer Mike
Roemer’s leadership, most of the Compliance
team is now part of one organization and, after
centralization, numbers nearly 4,000 team
members. Mike is focused on transforming
our compliance function into a competitive
advantage for the company and integrating
and implementing best practices across the
company. Our Operational Risk team, under
the leadership of Chief Operational Risk Officer
Mark Weintraub, oversees the management of
operational risk exposures and the effectiveness
of our operational risk management practices.
This includes educating and empowering team
members to identify and assess risks and help
ensure we have the right controls in place to
mitigate those risks.



Through our enhanced risk management
framework, we have a greater ability to understand
and manage our risks in a comprehensive and
holistic manner. As a result, we can better drive
and support effective decisions about risk
management at all levels of the company.

We continue to work very hard and through
multiple avenues to strengthen risk management.
We aren’t finished and continue to make progress,
building on the changes we have made.

Hand in hand with the enhancements we have
made to our risk management framework is
our continued emphasis on our “raise your
hand” culture, in which every team member is
encouraged to speak up if they need help or see
something that doesn’t look right. We’ve coupled
that effort with enhanced escalation channels and
processes to help ensure that any questions raised
by team members are investigated thoroughly
and confidentially. Every team member has
personal accountability for managing risk.

CORPORATE CITIZENSHIP

I believe our commitment to corporate citizenship
sets us apart. Our goal is clear: We want to help
people and communities succeed financially in
all of the places where we live and do business.
We take a comprehensive approach to increasing
access to economic opportunities and strengthening
local neighborhoods, working with a range of
public and private sector stakeholders to understand
the most urgent problems and the solutions that
can have the most impact.

“Our goal is clear: We want to
help people and communities
succeed financially in all of
the places where we live
and do business.”

This problem-solving mindset was showcased in
our October announcement of the Where We Lives™
program in Washington, D.C., which combines the
power of philanthropy and our market-leading
lending businesses with our deep community
partnerships. We made a five-year commitment
of $1.6 billion to help revitalize disadvantaged
neighborhoods in the district. Through our
collaboration with the National Community
Reinvestment Coalition and nearly 20 other local
community organizations, we plan to increase
affordable housing, small business growth, and
job skills for underserved residents in Ward 7 and
Ward 8 through corporate philanthropy and our
mortgage and small business lending businesses.

We continue to make progress in our efforts to
address the negative consequences of climate
change and other environmental challenges
affecting our planet. In addition to reducing our
company’s environmental footprint, in April
2018 we announced our commitment to provide
$200 billion in financing to sustainable businesses
and projects by 2030, with more than 50 percent
focused on clean technology and renewable energy
transactions to help accelerate the transition
to a low-carbon economy. This commitment
demonstrates how our products and services,
operations and culture, and philanthropy can be
harnessed toward a single goal. As an example,
Wells Fargo committed capital in construction
debt, as well as the tax-equity funding of $35 million,
for Origis Energy’s new solar generation facility in
Orange County, Florida. This facility will include
more than half a million solar panels, producing
and transmitting enough renewable electricity to
reduce greenhouse gas emissions by more than
57,000 tons per year.

One of my personal highlights this year was

announcing and then surpassing our $400 million
philanthropy target for 2018. Wells Fargo donated
$444 million in 2018 to nearly 11,000 nonprofits
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to help communities and people in need. It is
exciting to think of the positive change we can
make in our communities and in people’s lives
through the Wells Fargo Foundation, which is
investing an average of more than $1 million
a day toward important causes and into the
communities we serve. Beginning in 2019,
we are targeting 2 percent of our after-tax
profits for corporate philanthropy. We were
recognized in 2018 as the No. 2 most generous
cash donor in the U.S., and the top financial
institution in overall giving, by The Chronicle
of Philanthropy (based on 2017 data).

We all have causes that are especially near and
dear to our hearts, and the WE Care Fund is close
to mine. The WE Care Fund, now in its 17th year,
provides financial grants to help team members
recover from natural disasters, accidents, and
other life-changing events. Team member
donations to the WE Care Fund are augmented
by funding from the Wells Fargo Foundation.
One team member found support and assistance
when her husband was diagnosed with an
aggressive form of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis,
or ALS. With the help of a WE Care Fund grant,
they were able to build a wheelchair ramp at
their home, giving them one less expense

to worry about. The WE Care Fund is just one
of many ways our team members contribute
their financial resources and volunteer hours to
make our communities and our teams better.

I am deeply moved by the care that our team
members demonstrate for each other every day.

SHAREHOLDER VALUE

Our first five company goals all contribute to our
final goal, which is to deliver long-term shareholder
value through our diversified business model, a
solid risk discipline, efficient execution, a strong
balance sheet, and a world-class team dedicated to

meeting the financial needs of our customers.

Wells Fargo has a solid base from which to
achieve this goal, including strong levels of
capital and liquidity. And historically, we have
generated steady financial performance over
time and through different economic cycles.
We also remained disciplined regarding credit.
Our net charge-off ratio in 2018 was near
historic lows, and our nonperforming assets

declined 16 percent from a year ago.

We returned $25.8 billion to our shareholders
through common stock dividends and net share
repurchases in 2018, up 78 percent from 2017.
We reduced our common shares outstanding by
6 percent in 2018, the sixth year in a row we have
reduced our common share count. In July 2018, we
increased our quarterly common stock dividend
to 43 cents per share, and in January 2019, we
increased our quarterly common stock dividend
to 45 cents per share.

Our efficiency initiatives contribute to our ability
to provide long-term shareholder value. They are
focused on three areas: further centralization
and optimization to create a simpler and
more collaborative Wells Fargo, realigning
our businesses to more efficiently serve
customers, and enhancing our governance and
enforcement of controls and policies to drive
down costs. We met our expense target in
2018, and we remain committed to meeting
our expense targets for 2019 and 2020.

As planned, we completed 300 branch
consolidations in 2018 and sold 52 branches
in the fourth quarter. Following these changes,
our physical distribution remains unparalleled
in the industry; we have branches in more
states and in twice the number of markets as
our peers. We believe we have an opportunity
to further reduce redundancies without
meaningfully affecting our distribution, while
having room to grow in many of our businesses.



OUR PERFORMANCE

$ in millions, except per share amounts 2017 % CHANGE

FOR THE YEAR

Wells Fargo net income 22,393 22,183 1
Wells Fargo net income applicable to common stock 20,689 20,554 1
Diluted earnings per common share 4.28 4.10
Profitability ratios:

Wells Fargo net income to average assets (ROA) 1.19% 1.15 3

Wells Fargo net income applicable to common stock to average

Wells Fargo common stockholders’ equity (ROE) 11.53 11.35 2

Return on average tangible common equity (ROTCE)! 13.73 18,55 1
Efficiency ratio? 65.0 66.2 (2)
Total revenue 86,408 88,389 (2)
Pre-tax pre-provision profit® 30,282 29,905 1
Dividends declared per common share 1.640 1.540 6
Average common shares outstanding 4,799.7 4,964.6 (3)
Diluted average common shares outstanding 4,838.4 5,017.3 (4)
Average loans 945,197 956,129 (1)
Average assets 1,888,892 1,933,005 (2)
Average total deposits 1,275,857 1,304,622 (2)
Average consumer and small business banking deposits* 747,183 758,271 (1)
Net interest margin 2.91% 2.87 1

AT YEAR-END

Debt securities® 484,689 473,366 2
Loans 953,110 956,770 -
Allowance for loan losses 9,775 11,004 (11)
Goodwill 26,418 26,587 (1)
Equity securities® 55,148 62,497 (12)
Assets 1,895,883 1,951,757 (3)
Deposits 1,286,170 1,335,991 (4)
Common stockholders’ equity 174,359 183,134 (5)
Wells Fargo stockholders’ equity 196,166 206,936 (5)
Total equity 197,066 208,079 (5)
Tangible common equity*! 145,980 153,730 (5)

Capital ratios®:

Total equity to assets 10.39 % 10.66 (3)
Risk-based capital”

Common Equity Tier 1 11.74 12.28 (4)

Tier 1 capital 13.46 14.14 (5)

Total capital 16.60 17.46 (5)

Tier 1 leverage 9.07 85 (3)

Common shares outstanding 4,581.3 4,891.6 (6)

Book value per common share® 38.06 37.44 2

Tangible book value per common share!-® 31.86 31.43 1

Team members (active, full-time equivalent) 258,700 262,700 (2)

Tangible common equity is a non-GAAP financial measure and represents total equity less preferred equity, noncontrolling interests, and goodwill and certain identifiable intangible assets (including goodwill and
intangible assets associated with certain of our nonmarketable equity securities, but excluding mortgage servicing rights), net of applicable deferred taxes. The methodology of determining tangible common equity
may differ among companies. Management believes that return on average tangible common equity and tangible book value per common share, which utilize tangible common equity, are useful financial measures
because they enable investors and others to assess the Company’s use of equity. For additional information, including a corresponding reconciliation to GAAP financial measures, see the “Financial Review - Capital
Management - Tangible Common Equity” section in this Report.

? The efficiency ratio is noninterest expense divided by total revenue (net interest income and noninterest income).

3 Pre-tax pre-provision profit (PTPP) is total revenue less noninterest expense. Management believes that PTPP is a useful financial measure because it enables investors and others to assess the Company’s ability to

generate capital to cover credit losses through a credit cycle.
Consumer and small business banking deposits are total deposits excluding mortgage escrow and wholesale deposits.
Financial information for 2017 has been revised to reflect the impact of our adoption in first quarter 2018 of Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-01 - Financial Instruments - Overall (Subtopic 825-10):

Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, which amends the presentation and accounting for certain financial instruments, including equity securities. See Note 1 (Summary
of Significant Accounting Policies) to Financial Statements in this Report for more information.

§ See the "Financial Review - Capital Management" section and Note 28 (Regulatory and Agency Capital Requirements) to Financial Statements in this Report for additional information.

7 The risk-based capital ratios were calculated under the lower of Standardized or Advanced Approach determined pursuant to Basel lIl. Beginning January 1, 2018, the requirements for calculating common equity

tier 1 and tier 1 capital, along with risk-weighted assets, became fully phased-in; however, the requirements for calculating tier 2 and total capital are still in accordance with Transition Requirements. See the

“Financial Review - Capital Management” section and Note 28 (Regulatory and Agency Capital Requirements) to Financial Statements in this Report for additional information.

¢ Book value per common share is common stockholders' equity divided by common shares outstanding. Tangible book value per common share is tangible common equity divided by common shares outstanding.

19



As an example, we streamlined the retail
mortgage sales operation, eliminating layers
and reengineering the mortgage fulfillment
process. We will continue to look for ways to
improve efficiency as we focus on creating
long-term shareholder value.

IN CLOSING

I am confident that Wells Fargo is well-positioned
for the future. In 2019, we will continue working
to build the most customer-focused, efficient, and
innovative Wells Fargo ever — characterized by

a strong financial foundation, a leading presence
in the markets we serve, focused growth within a
strong risk management framework, operational

excellence, and highly engaged team members.

As we look ahead, we won'’t lose sight of our roots
and our company’s history. We are building on
an exceptionally strong foundation to transform
Wells Fargo into a better bank for the future.

Coupled with the strong optimism I feel for the
future of our company is a deep sense of gratitude.
I am thankful for the leadership, guidance, and
support of Betsy Duke, our board chair, and our
other highly qualified, hard-working, and dedicated
board members. I would like to especially
recognize Karen Peetz, who is retiring from the
board this year, for her contributions, and welcome
Wayne Hewett, who joined the board this year
and brings deep experience in business operations
and processes.

I am also thankful for our customers, who are at
the center of everything we do. And I am especially
grateful for our 259,000 talented team members,
who work hard every day to ensure we realize our
vision of satisfying our customers’ financial needs.

I am honored to lead them.

The future always brings both opportunities
and challenges, and I feel optimistic about what
lies ahead for Wells Fargo. I thank you, our
shareholders, for your support of Wells Fargo
during 2018 and as we travel our road ahead.

TIMOTHY J. SLOAN

Chief Executive Officer and President
Wells Fargo & Company

February 15, 2019



As Wells Fargo makes
progress on the road
ahead, CEO Tim Sloan
has established six
goals to guide us.
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The stories that follow illustrate just a few
of the many ways we are working to become
the financial services leader in:

m Customer service and advice
m Team member engagement
m Innovation

m Risk management

m Corporate citizenship

m Shareholder value


https://stories.wf.com/

Strengthening financial health through
focused conversation

WHEN DARLENE AHMED NEEDED GUIDANCE ON HER FINANCIAL JOURNEY,
SHE FOUND IT IN WELLS FARGO’S FINANCIAL HEALTH CONVERSATIONS PROGRAM.

Talking about money isn’t always easy, but it can be a tremendous help.

Darlene Ahmed of Fruitland Park, Florida, found that out last year when a series of focused
conversations helped her transition from renting an apartment to owning her first home.

It was the kind of talk that takes place daily in all parts of Wells Fargo — in person, over mobile
devices, and on the phone.

Ahmed, 57, a certified nursing assistant at an assisted-living facility, had rented for years while raising
a child — financially secure but unsure if she was ready for homeownership. When she became an
empty nester, she figured the time might be right. She called Wells Fargo Home Lending and soon
learned she couldn’t be pre-approved for a mortgage. The culprit? A low credit score.

“I was shocked when I heard what my credit score was,” Ahmed said. She was put in touch with
Financial Health Banker Dustin Griffin in Sioux Falls, South Dakota. Griffin started by asking
questions, and soon the two had hit upon a hard fact: What Ahmed always thought was good —
no credit cards, no loans, no lines of credit — actually meant a thin credit history and low credit score.
So over a series of short conversations, Griffin recommended that Ahmed start slowly building her
credit history — applying for a couple of credit cards, paying off all purchases on time, and never
using more than 30 percent of the available balances.

Months later, when she tried for pre-approval again, “I got approved and a week later found
my house on my birthday,” said Ahmed. “Dustin was right there for me every step of the way,

giving me peace of mind, confidence, and guidance.”

Griffin said, “Once she figured out what she wanted, there was no stopping her! I just helped lay
out a clear path for her to get there.”

Since 2015, Griffin and his Wells Fargo teammates have helped nearly 50,000 customers learn to
save more and strengthen their credit through Financial Health Conversations, a program for
customers who request additional help to save more, improve credit, or save for a home. Wells Fargo
operates the program from contact centers in Sioux Falls; Charlotte, North Carolina; Richmond,
Virginia; and Phoenix — as well as El Monte, California, and San Antonio, which also serve
Spanish-speaking customers. The team conducts more than 400 conversations weekly.

Griffin concluded, “It’s important to me not just to give out information but to form a real bond

and connection with customers like Darlene. I couldn’t be happier for her.”

Right: Darlene Ahmed at her home in Fruitland Park, Florida.






A plan to providg 3
working capital

BUSINESS OWNER RAY HUFNAGEL GOT FINANCIAL - PLANNING HELP.— AND THE
FINANCING HE NEEDED TO GROW — FROM HIS WELLS FARGO BANKER.

Now that a decade has passed, businessman So Hufnagel connected with Wells Fargo

Ray Hufnagel can see that the low point for Commercial Banker Jay Hong of Pasadena,

his company also was a catalyst for its success California, who recognized an opportunity

today. But it didn’t feel like it at the time. for growth in the then-regional company that
specialized in loading and shipping plastic

Plastic Express, a logistics services company resin — the BB-sized core ingredient for all

based in City of Industry, California, was like plastic products.

many businesses that struggled at the beginning

of the Great Recession. Despite a 30-year track Together, Hufnagel and Hong devised a plan
record, it didn’t turn a profit in 2008, and the to meet Plastic Express’ short-term needs
company was rebuffed when it turned toitsbank  while also looking strategically at the years

for advice. “Everything was great with our old ahead. Hong said, “To meet the demand for
bank until our checking account went to zero,” the unique service Plastic Express provides,
said Hufnagel, president and CEO. “They really and to be prepared to earn new business,

weren't interested in looking at our financials or they needed access to capital — often ahead
helping us plan. I just didn’t feel supported.” of revenue coming in. So Wells Fargo did the

research and worked with their team.




“Now we provide the working capital the to deliver for our customers — as well as

company needs to finance things like new quadrupling gross revenue — since we started

and replacement equipment — like tractors, our relationship with Wells Fargo,” Hufnagel said.

trailers, and packaging lines — which are key

drivers for the company’s continued growth.” A bonus, according to Hufnagel, who was a Navy
pilot with 15 years of active duty service: “Ilove

A decade later, Plastic Express has executed the fact that Wells Fargo hires veterans.”

on its strategic plan of expanding geographically.

The company now covers the U.S. coast to coast, Hong, an Army combat veteran, concluded,

with 16 warehouses, 19 trucking terminals, “The military taught me the value of teamwork,
42 bulk rail terminals, and 9,000 railcar spots. risk assessment, and planning — all of which
It also now employs 375 people. “We've grown have benefited my work as Plastic Express’
both our national footprint and our ability relationship manager at Wells Fargo.”

Above: Ray Hufnagel, right, with Wells Fargo’s Jay Hong in City of Industry, California.






The voice of a Veteran

CHANTY CLAY SUCCESSFULLY NAVIGATED THE TRANSITION FROM
MILITARY SERVICE TO WELLS FARGO, AND NOW SHE USES THAT
EXPERIENCE AND HER PH.D. TO GUIDE OTHERS.

If experience is a great teacher, then Chanty Clay of St. Louis is a master.

She served 10 years in the U.S. Air Force, where she worked in inventory management, training, and
human relations, and earned a college degree. After honorable discharge, she applied the leadership
skills she had learned to Wells Fargo and then earned a Ph.D. Today she leads a team of Human
Resources consultants at Wells Fargo and mentors eight veterans — both inside and outside
the company — who are making the transition to life after the military.

“What the Air Force prepared me for was to use my competencies, regardless of the industry,” Clay
said. “In the military, you contribute to the team in so many different ways. For any veteran making
the transition to civilian life, the most important thing to realize is that you have specific skills from
your military job and also interpersonal and leadership skills that are applicable to other areas.”

For example, in Air Force inventory management, one of Clay’s early roles involved answering
questions from service members about their supplies and reports. “I saw the value of true customer
service — building trust, maintaining relationships, and delivering outstanding service. Those are
values I've continued to hold onto throughout my career,” she said.

Clay made the decision to enlist in the military while she was a 20-year-old college student trying to
figure out what to do with the rest of her life. In considering her options, Clay said, “I appreciated the
structure of the military, and I appreciated the camaraderie, but most important, I appreciated the
opportunity to have diverse experiences and learn new things.”

Making connections is part of what drives Clay’s work in supporting veterans today. She helped
create the local St. Louis chapter of the internal Veterans’ Team Member Network at Wells Fargo.
Clay said she is proud “to provide a safe space where veterans can share with me what they're
experiencing. Together, we can confront challenges and celebrate successes.”

Jerry Quinn, Military Affairs Program manager for Wells Fargo, said, “Chanty’s personal story

of transition, utilizing her skills and abilities, is an experience many veterans have. And her
dedication is further testimony of the value veterans bring to Wells Fargo and our communities.”

Left: Wells Fargo’s Chanty Clay with Alexander Propst, a veteran she mentors, in St. Louis.
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Teaming up to promote economic
empowerment

WITH BACKING FROM WELLS FARGO, YVONNE GREEN STRIVES TO EMPOWER
THOSE WHO LIVE AND WORK OUTSIDE THE TRADITIONAL FINANCIAL SYSTEM.

“Financial success” has many definitions. Connecticut, Ohio, Florida, and Texas —
For Yvonne Green, it starts with saving money to five additional markets.
rather than living paycheck to paycheck and
depending on pawnshops and payday lenders. The program aims to address the needs of
those who are unbanked (people who do
Green considers herself lucky to have parents not have a checking or savings account) and
who, despite limited resources, insisted she underbanked (people who have a checking or
open a checking account when she got her first savings account but also use services outside
job at 16. Now, as a fellow with the independent of traditional financial institutions). The
initiative Bank On Houston, she works as Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
a financial health advocate for those in her estimates that 63 million U.S. adults meet
hometown who live outside the traditional these definitions because they don’t have
financial system. enough money to meet a minimum balance
requirement, distrust financial institutions,
“I'm reminded daily of what it means to save as or have identification or credit problems —
much of your money as you can, while at the making them susceptible to expensive,
same time avoiding taking on debt that you alternative financial services.
cannot manage,” said Green. “That legacy lives
on through my work at Bank On Houston, and “The Bank On program is all about
for that I am truly grateful.” communicating the benefits of accounts
and saving,” said Lisa Price of Wells Fargo
Bank On works with coalitions around the Community Relations in Phoenix. “It
U.S. to build financial capacity in communities. doesn’t promote one financial institution
In 2017, Wells Fargo invested $1 million to over another.”

launch the Bank On Fellows program with

the Cities for Financial Empowerment Fund, Fellows like Green work with consumers,
which aims to improve the financial stability community organizations, local governments,
of low and moderate-income households. and various financial institutions to connect
The CFE Fund and Wells Fargo share a those in need with safe financial products.
commitment to economic empowerment

and strengthening financial self-sufficiency “I believe that sharing my story can help

in underserved communities. In 2018, communities understand the importance
Wells Fargo announced an additional $1 million of financial empowerment,” Green said.
grant to expand the Bank On Fellowship — “By using safe and affordable products, families
which currently operates in Alabama, can begin to build better financial practices,

accumulate wealth, and leave a lasting legacy.”

Right: Yvonne Green, left, with Wells Fargo s Lisa Price in Houston.






Engineering a better tomorrow

SCHOLARSHIP SUPPORT FROM WELLS FARGO HELPED BIOENGINEER LILY SOOKLAL
EARN HER COLLEGE DEGREE, AND NOW SHE IS PAYING IT FORWARD.

Lily Sooklal, 24, was never really sure what she wanted to be when she grew up. Then a relative’s
medical diagnosis brought things into focus, and today she is a bioengineer designing and
developing medical devices that aim to diagnose disease.

“I was inspired to study bioengineering by my aunt’s multiple sclerosis,” said Sooklal, an
Indo-Trinidadian American whose parents emigrated from Trinidad to the U.S. “The chance
I had to work in a lab researching that same disease during my first year of college was amazing,
and I discovered I wanted to do work that gives back to patients like my aunt in other countries.”

She added, “In my family, education has a lot of value, and the desire to earn a college degree is
something my parents instilled in me early on.” Her family has a long history of farming in Trinidad,
and her father was not able to go to high school. Sooklal’s family lived below the poverty line, and

she became aware that she would need to pay her own way through school.

Sooklal found help from APIA Scholars, which promotes the success of Asian and Pacific Islander
American students through scholarships, college planning, leadership training, and financial education,
and provides professional development tools and resources. Wells Fargo has worked with APIA
Scholars since 2006, providing more than $7.6 million to fund more than 1,700 college scholarships.
Many of the 252 APIA/Wells Fargo scholars pursuing their education in the 2018-19 academic year
have similar backgrounds as Sooklal: Eighty-five percent are first-generation college students, and

67 percent were living at or below the poverty line.

Jimmie Paschall, head of Enterprise Diversity & Inclusion at Wells Fargo, said, “We aim to make a
positive contribution to communities through philanthropy, advancing diversity and inclusion, and
creating economic opportunity. Through APIA Scholars, Wells Fargo is supporting both diversity
and higher education in a direct and meaningful way: by providing talented, underserved APIA
students the financial means to achieve their dreams.”

Sooklal’s scholarship helped her with college tuition and housing costs. She also benefited from an
APIA initiative that provides tips, advice, and information to help college students be successful in their
first year. Now she works to pay it forward: At her company, she serves as co-president of a women’s
network and supports an internal Asian resource group. Sooklal also runs networking and resume
workshops every year at the University of Maryland.

She concluded, “I believe it’s important to support — both at the high school and college levels —
women in technical fields, and organizations like APIA Scholars are part of that. APIA Scholars
has given people in the Asian community hope and light. It means a lot.”

Right: Lily Sooklal at the University of Maryland, College Park.









Helping clients protect their
financial resources

RS SENN

WELLS FARGO ADVISORS TEAM MEMBERS WORK TO HELP SENIORS
BY MANAGING RISK AND PUTTING SAFEGUARDS IN PLACE.

In reviewing the activity in a client’s brokerage account, a Wells Fargo Advisors financial advisor
wondered: Why would an 80-year-old be taking out so much cash, and so often?

The advisor alerted the Elder Client Initiatives team, which investigated and soon found the
answer: One of her sons was making the withdrawals for himself. The team moved quickly and
advised the client to add a different relative as a “trusted contact” on the client’s account —
which stopped the abuse.

This is one of many successes the team has logged since it was created in 2014, among the first of
its kind in the brokerage industry. “Everything we do is designed to help clients manage risk and
avoid financial harm,” said Ron Long, head of Elder Client Initiatives at Wells Fargo Advisors.

Long’s team investigates more than 200 cases a month, typically referred by financial advisors who
spot red flags that indicate their customers may be at risk of abuse. The team also conducts research
on related issues and works with protective services and senior advocacy groups across the U.S.

“We know that families are not always having the conversations they should be having about
protecting savings and investments,” Long said. “That allows scammers to come onto the scene
and take advantage.”

The Elder Client Initiatives team also worked with lawmakers in Alabama on legislation to help
protect seniors from financial crimes. Joe Borg, director of the Alabama Securities Commission,
worked with Long to come up with proposed provisions, such as requiring the reporting of certain
transactions and authorizing financial advisors to speak with the clients’ trusted contacts about
suspected problems.

“If a hospital has to report when someone falls out of bed, why shouldn’t we as an industry have
to report attempts to wipe out someone’s bank or retirement account?” said Borg. “The Alabama
legislature shared our concerns, and the law passed.”

Every year, Wells Fargo trains team members who interact with customers on how to prevent,
identify, and report suspected elder financial abuse.

Long concluded, “Putting safeguards in place — and engaging in transparent, open dialogue —
is critical if we want to protect the dollars older Americans have worked so hard to accumulate.
We are proud to be part of that.”

Investment and insurance products: NOT FDIC-Insured/NO Bank Guarantee/MAY Lose Value

Wells Fargo Advisors is a trade name used by Wells Fargo Clearing Services, LLC, Member SIPC, a registered broker-dealer and
non-bank affiliate of Wells Fargo & Company. CAR-0119-00596

Left: Wells Fargo Advisors’ Ron Long, right, with Joe Borg in Montgomery, Alabama.



Reaching homebuyersm' ;3 -
their digital domain 3K

WELLS FARGO S NEW ONLINE I\IAFB‘RTGAGE APPLICATION GIVES CUSTOMERS
LIKE ERIK GRUBER THE SPEED AND CONVENIENCE THEY’VE COME TO EXPECT.
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Erik Gruber spends most of his life on the in December 2018, 30 percent of all retail
internet, whether he’s creating videos for work mortgage applications were done through
or ordering pizza for dinner. So when he started the online mortgage application.

to consider becoming a homeowner, it was only
natural to research the subject online, find houses =~ Michael DeVito, head of Wells Fargo

online — and get pre-approved for a mortgage Home Lending, said, “We see a broad
using an online application from Wells Fargo. range of customers readily embracing
the online mortgage application. We are
“Whenever I have the option, online attracting customers of all ages as they
usually works best for me,” said Gruber, increasingly use their smartphones and
29, a Wells Fargo customer in suburban mobile devices for daily activities. Digital
Philadelphia. “It’s just more convenient.” tools like the online mortgage application

help Wells Fargo deliver simplicity and
He is far from alone. Wells Fargo has attracted convenience for customers.”
hundreds of thousands of customers to the
online mortgage application since the tool It is especially convenient for tech-savvy
launched in first quarter 2018. In fact, millennial professionals who, like Gruber,




are part of the gig economy — self-employed

contractors who work for multiple employers,
have many income sources, and who have
lots of paperwork to manage.

“Millennials want their information fast,”
said Derek Tesinsky, a Wells Fargo home
mortgage consultant in Des Moines, Iowa,
who worked with Gruber on his loan.

“They want an interface that tells them
what they need and what needs to be done.
They don’t want to spend their time talking
on the phone to submit an application.”

Above: Erik Gruber at work near Philadelphia.

After submitting his application online,
Gruber received a decision from the company
in a matter of hours. Then, once he found

a house, he sent documents to Wells Fargo
through yourLoanTracker™, an online tool
that allows direct uploading. He closed on his
new home in spring 2018.

He concluded, “I do all my other banking with
Wells Fargo, so it made sense to use Wells Fargo
for my mortgage. And the online mortgage
application worked great! It all boiled down

to convenience.”



Propel® Card strategy: Listen,
learn, design, deploy

BY CONSULTING CUSTOMERS AT EVERY TURN, THIS TEAM
DEVELOPED AN OFFERING WITH A STRONG VALUE PROPOSITION
FOR CUSTOMERS AND WELLS FARGO.

When Wells Fargo’s new Propel® Card received
a top industry rating in late 2018, a digital
celebration broke out among the hundreds of
team members across the U.S. who had worked
hard to help make sure it provides just what
it was intended to — and also fits with the
company'’s strategy to develop services and

products for a range of different customers.

“Based on what active-lifestyle consumers
told us, we developed a simple, easy to
understand card that rewards them for the
things they are already doing every day,” said
Beverly Anderson, head of Wells Fargo Cards
and Retail Services. “Things like dining out
with friends, commuting to work, planning
a summer vacation, or downloading a favorite

TV series to binge-watch.

“We also wanted to deliver a compelling, digital
first experience that lets people apply for the
card wherever they happened to be shopping
digitally. In an article published on Nov. 12, 2018,
Business Insider named the Propel Card ‘the
best no-fee card to open in 2018,” and that

recognition underscored our achievement.”

The enhanced rewards card — Wells Fargo’s
latest card with partner American Express —

was introduced in summer 2018. Supported

by the Go Far® Rewards program, the Propel
Card also gives customers a range of options
for redeeming their rewards points, including
for cash at Wells Fargo ATMs, online
purchases, gift cards for charitable donations,
gifts to friends, and sharing them with other
cardholders they know.

Creating products like the Propel Card to serve
existing customers and attract new ones —
while maintaining its risk discipline — is one of
the key ways Wells Fargo creates value for its
shareholders. Anderson and the Propel Card
team undertook market research, conducted
focus group studies, and interviewed
customers for more than a year as they tested
and developed the concept, model, and
implementation strategy. Anderson said the
team combined the scientific method with
common sense and intuitive insights into
people and their spending behavior.

Heather Philp, head of the Propel Card team,
said her team’s biggest challenge — and highest
priority — was to identify the best value
proposition for customers. “They wanted a
card that would work for their lives, rather
than having to make their lives work around
the card,” she said. “We believe the Propel
Card does just that.”

Right: Wells Fargo s Beverly Anderson with her team in Wilmington, Delaware.
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OPERATING COMMITTEE AND
OTHER CORPORATE OFFICERS

Wells Fargo Operating Committee' (left to right):
Mary T. Mack, Jonathan G. Weiss, Avid Modjtabai, David C. Galloreese, Timothy J. Sloan, John R. Shrewsberry,
Amanda G. Norton, C. Allen Parker, and Perry G. Pelos

tOn January 9, 2019, Wells Fargo announced that Saul Van Beurden will join the company in April as head of Technology
and become a member of the Operating Committee. On February 6, 2019, Wells Fargo announced that Julie Scammahorn

will join the company in April as chief auditor and become a member of the Operating Committee.

TIMOTHY J. SLOAN
CEO and President*

ANTHONY R. AUGLIERA
Corporate Secretary

NEAL A. BLINDE
Treasurer

JOHN M. CAMPBELL
Head of Investor Relations

JON R. CAMPBELL
Head of Corporate Philanthropy
and Community Relations

DAVID C. GALLOREESE
Head of Human Resources*

* “Executive officers” according to Securities and Exchange Commission rules.

RICHARD D. LEVY
Controller*

MARY T. MACK
Head of Consumer Banking*

AVID MODJTABAI
Head of Payments, Virtual
Solutions and Innovation*

DAVID MOSKOWITZ
Head of Government Relations
and Public Policy

AMANDA G. NORTON
Chief Risk Officer*

C. ALLEN PARKER
General Counsel*

As of February 15,2019

PERRY G. PELOS
Head of Wholesale Banking*

JAMES H. ROWE
Head of Stakeholder Relations

JOHN R. SHREWSBERRY
Chief Financial Officer*

JONATHAN G. WEISS
Head of Wealth and
Investment Management*

MARY S. WENZEL
Head of Sustainability
and Corporate Responsibility



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Standing Committees
1. Audit and Examination

JOHN D. BAKER II

Executive Chairman and CEO
FRP Holdings, Inc.
(Real estate)

CELESTE A. CLARK , , ,

Principal, Abraham Clark Consulting, LLC,
and Retired Senior Vice President, Global
Public Policy and External Relations and
Chief Sustainability Officer

Kellogg Company

(Food manufacturing)

THEODORE F. CRAVER, JR. ,

Retired Chairman, President and CEO
Edison International
(Energy)

ELIZABETH A. DUKE , , , ,
Chair

Wells Fargo & Company
Former member of the Federal
Reserve Board of Governors
(U.S. regulatory agency)

WAYNE M. HEWETT

Senior Advisor

Permira (Private equity),
and Chairman
DiversiTech Corporation
(HVAC-R manufacturing)

DONALD M. JAMES ,
Retired Chairman

Vulcan Materials Company
(Construction materials)

MARIA R. MORRIS

Retired Executive Vice President
and Head of Global Employee
Benefits business

MetLife, Inc.

(Health and life insurance)

2. Corporate Responsibilty 3. Credit 4. Finance

5. Governance and Nominating

KAREN B. PEETZ

Retired President

The Bank of New York

Mellon Corporation

(Banking and financial services)

JUAN A. PUJADAS , , , .
Retired Principal
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,
and Former Vice Chairman,
Global Advisory Services
PwC International
(Professional services)

JAMES H. QUIGLEY , , ,

CEO Emeritus and Retired Partner
Deloitte
(Audit, tax, financial advisory)

RONALD L. SARGENT | _

Retired Chairman and CEO
Staples, Inc.
(Office supply retailer)

TIMOTHY J. SLOAN

CEO and President
Wells Fargo & Company

SUZANNE M. VAUTRINOT , , .
President

Kilovolt Consulting, Inc.

(Cyber and technology consulting)
Major General and Commander
United States Air Force (retired)

6. Human Resources 7. Risk

As of February 15,2019
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OUR COMMUNITY IMPACT

2018 Corporate Responsibility Highlights

Wells Fargo is committed to making a positive impact by helping people and communities
succeed financially — and creating solutions for a stronger, more sustainable future in which
everyone can grow and prosper. Read more at wellsfargo.com/about/corporate-responsibility.

Here is a snapshot of our community impact in 2018.

STRENGTHENING
COMMUNITIES

Contributed S444 million and volunteered
2+ million hours, improving lives and
supporting economic growth in the U.S. and
around the world.

ACCELERATING TO A
LOW-CARBON ECONOMY

Met 100% of our global electricity needs with
renewable energy. Committed to providing
$200 billion in financing to sustainable
businesses and projects by 2030.

ADVANCING
AFFORDABLE HOUSING

Financed 31,800 affordable rental units. Created

3,900+ homeowners through NeighbhorhoodLIFT®

program, offering homebuyer education, down
payment assistance, and grants to revitalize

neighborhoods.

Data for January 1, 2018 - December 31, 2018, unless otherwise noted.

EMPOWERING DIVERSE
SMALL BUSINESSES

Awarded $94.8 million in grants and capital
to grow diverse small businesses since 2015,
supporting economic equity and employment
opportunities for 36,000 people.

EXPANDING ACCESS
TO CLEAN ENERGY

Provided 2,000 low-income and tribal
households with solar power to decrease
energy bills, and trained 3,500 people
for careers in clean energy.

IMPROVING FINANCIAL
HEALTH AND CAPABILITY

Reached 1.7 million people to provide
financial education through Wells Fargo’s Hands
on Banking® program, including new content for

veterans and people with disabilities.


https://www.wellsfargo.com/about/corporate-responsibility

WELLS FARGO & COMPANY 2018 FINANCIAL REPORT

Financial Review

42 Overview 162 5 Available-for-Sale and Held-to-Maturity Debt Securities
48 Earnings Performance 170 6 Loans and Allowance for Credit Losses
. Premises, Equipment, Lease Commitments and Other
67 Balance Sheet Analysis 187 7 Assets
69 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 188 8 Equity Securities
71 Risk Management 190 9 Securitizations and Variable Interest Entities
102 Capital Management 201 10 Mortgage Banking Activities
110 Regulatory Matters 203 11 Intangible Assets
113 Critical Accounting Policies 205 12 Deposits
117 Current Accounting Developments 206 13 Short-Term Borrowings
119 Forward-Looking Statements 207 14 Long-Term Debt
. Guarantees, Pledged Assets and Collateral, and Other
120 Risk Factors 209 15 Commitments
214 16 Legal Actions
Controls and Procedures 219 17 Derivatives
137 Disclosure Controls and Procedures 229 18 Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities
137 Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 249 19 Preferred Stock
Management’s Report on Internal Control over
137 Financial Reporting 252 20 Common Stock and Stock Plans
Report of Independent Registered Public
138 Accounting Firm 256 21 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
260 22 Employee Benefits and Other Expenses
Financial Statements 267 23 Income Taxes
139 Consolidated Statement of Income 270 24 Earnings and Dividends Per Common Share
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
140 Income 271 25 Other Comprehensive Income
141 Consolidated Balance Sheet 273 26 Operating Segments
Consolidated Statement of Changes in
142 Equ1ty 275 27 Parent-Only Financial Statements
146 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 278 28 Regulatory and Agency Capital Requirements

Notes to Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered

147 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 279 Public Accounting Firm
159 2 Business Combinations 280 Quarterly Financial Data
160 3 Cash, Loan and Dividend Restrictions 282 Glossary of Acronyms

161 4 Trading Activities

Wells Fargo & Company



This Annual Report, including the Financial Review and the Financial Statements and related Notes, contains forward-looking
statements, which may include forecasts of our financial results and condition, expectations for our operations and business, and our
assumptions for those forecasts and expectations. Do not unduly rely on forward-looking statements. Actual results may differ
materially from our forward-looking statements due to several factors. Factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially
from our forward-looking statements are described in this Report, including in the “Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors”
sections, and in the “Regulation and Supervision” section of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018

(2018 Form 10-K).

” «

When we refer to “Wells Fargo,” “the Company,” “we,” “our,” or “us” in this Report, we mean Wells Fargo & Company and
Subsidiaries (consolidated). When we refer to the “Parent,” we mean Wells Fargo & Company. See the Glossary of Acronyms for

terms used throughout this Report.

Financial Review!

Overview

Wells Fargo & Company is a diversified, community-based
financial services company with $1.90 trillion in assets. Founded
in 1852 and headquartered in San Francisco, we provide
banking, investment and mortgage products and services, as well
as consumer and commercial finance, through 7,800 locations,
more than 13,000 ATMs, digital (online, mobile and social), and
contact centers (phone, email and correspondence), and we have
offices in 37 countries and territories to support customers who
conduct business in the global economy. With approximately
259,000 active, full-time equivalent team members, we serve
one in three households in the United States and ranked No. 26
on Fortune’s 2018 rankings of America’s largest corporations.
We ranked fourth in assets and third in the market value of our
common stock among all U.S. banks at December 31, 2018.

We use our Vision, Values & Goals to guide us toward
growth and success. Our vision is to satisfy our customers’
financial needs and help them succeed financially. We aspire to
create deep and enduring relationships with our customers by
providing them with an exceptional experience and by
understanding their needs and delivering the most relevant
products, services, advice, and guidance.

We have five primary values, which are based on our vision
and guide the actions we take. First, we place customers at the
center of everything we do. We want to exceed customer
expectations and build relationships that last a lifetime. Second,
we value and support our people as a competitive advantage and
strive to attract, develop, motivate, and retain the best team
members. Third, we strive for the highest ethical standards of
integrity, transparency, and principled performance. Fourth, we
value and promote diversity and inclusion in all aspects of
business and at all levels. Fifth, we look to each of our team
members to be a leader in establishing, sharing, and
communicating our vision for our customers, communities, team
members, and shareholders. In addition to our five primary
values, one of our key day-to-day priorities is to make risk
management a competitive advantage by working hard to ensure
that appropriate controls are in place to reduce risks to our
customers, maintain and increase our competitive market
position, and protect Wells Fargo’s long-term safety, soundness,
and reputation.

1 Financial information for periods prior to 2018 has been revised to
reflect presentation changes made in connection with our adoption
in first quarter 2018 of Accounting Standards Update (ASU)
2016-01 Financial Instruments — Overall (Subtopic 825-10):
Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities. See Note 1 (Summary of Significant Accounting Policies)
to Financial Statements in this Report for more information.

In keeping with our primary values and risk management
priorities, we have six long-term goals for the Company, which
entail becoming the financial services leader in the following
areas:

+  Customer service and advice — provide exceptional service
and guidance to our customers to help them succeed
financially.

« Team member engagement — be a company where people
feel included, valued, and supported; everyone is respected;
and we work as a team.

« Innovation — create lasting value for our customers and
increased efficiency for our operations through innovative
thinking, industry-leading technology, and a willingness to
test and learn.

+  Risk management — set the global standard in
managing all forms of risk.

«  Corporate citizenship — make a positive contribution to
communities through philanthropy, advancing diversity and
inclusion, creating economic opportunity, and promoting
environmental sustainability.

»  Shareholder value — deliver long-term value for
shareholders.

Federal Reserve Board Consent Order Regarding
Governance Oversight and Compliance and
Operational Risk Management

On February 2, 2018, the Company entered into a consent order
with the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
(FRB). As required by the consent order, the Board submitted to
the FRB a plan to further enhance the Board’s governance and
oversight of the Company, and the Company submitted to the
FRB a plan to further improve the Company’s compliance and
operational risk management program. The consent order
requires the Company, following the FRB’s acceptance and
approval of the plans and the Company’s adoption and
implementation of the plans, to complete third-party reviews of
the enhancements and improvements provided for in the plans.
Until these third-party reviews are complete and the plans are
approved and implemented to the satisfaction of the FRB, the
Company’s total consolidated assets will be limited to the level as
of December 31, 2017. Compliance with this asset cap will be
measured on a two-quarter daily average basis to allow for
management of temporary fluctuations. The Company continues
to have constructive dialogue with the FRB on an ongoing basis
to clarify expectations, receive feedback, and assess progress
under the consent order. In order to have enough time to
incorporate this feedback into the Company’s plans in a
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thoughtful manner, adopt and implement the final plans as
accepted by the FRB, and complete the required third-party
reviews, the Company is planning to operate under the asset cap
through the end of 2019. As of the end of fourth quarter 2018,
our total consolidated assets, as calculated pursuant to the
requirements of the consent order, were below our level of total
assets as of December 31, 2017. Additionally, after removal of the
asset cap, a second third-party review must also be conducted to
assess the efficacy and sustainability of the enhancements and
improvements.

Consent Orders with the Consumer Financial
Protection Bureau and Office of the Comptroller
of the Currency Regarding Compliance Risk
Management Program, Automobile Collateral
Protection Insurance Policies, and Mortgage
Interest Rate Lock Extensions

On April 20, 2018, the Company entered into consent orders
with the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) and the
Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) to pay an
aggregate of $1 billion in civil money penalties to resolve matters
regarding the Company’s compliance risk management program
and past practices involving certain automobile collateral
protection insurance policies and certain mortgage interest rate
lock extensions. As required by the consent orders, the Company
submitted to the CFPB and OCC an enterprise-wide compliance
risk management plan and a plan to enhance the Company’s
internal audit program with respect to federal consumer
financial law and the terms of the consent orders. In addition, as
required by the consent orders, the Company submitted for non-
objection plans to remediate customers affected by the
automobile collateral protection insurance and mortgage
interest rate lock matters, as well as a plan for the management
of remediation activities conducted by the Company.

Retail Sales Practices Matters

As we have previously reported, in September 2016 we
announced settlements with the CFPB, the OCC, and the Office
of the Los Angeles City Attorney, and entered into consent
orders with the CFPB and the OCC, in connection with
allegations that some of our retail customers received products
and services they did not request. As a result, it remains our top
priority to rebuild trust through a comprehensive action plan
that includes making things right for our customers, team
members, and other stakeholders, and building a better
Company for the future.

Our priority of rebuilding trust has included numerous
actions focused on identifying potential financial harm and
customer remediation. The Board and management are
conducting company-wide reviews of sales practices issues.
These reviews are ongoing. In August 2017, a third-party
consulting firm completed an expanded data-driven review of
retail banking accounts opened from January 2009 to
September 2016 to identify financial harm stemming from
potentially unauthorized accounts. We have completed financial
remediation for the customers identified through the expanded
account analysis. Additionally, customer outreach under the
$142 million class action lawsuit settlement concerning
improper retail sales practices (Jabbari v. Wells Fargo Bank,
N.A.), into which the Company entered to provide further
remediation to customers, concluded in June 2018 and the
period for customers to submit claims closed on July 7, 2018.
The settlement administrator will pay claims following the

calculation of compensatory damages and favorable resolution of
pending appeals in the case.

For additional information regarding sales practices
matters, including related legal matters, see the “Risk Factors”
section and Note 16 (Legal Actions) to Financial Statements in
this Report.

Additional Efforts to Rebuild Trust

Our priority of rebuilding trust has also included an effort to

identify other areas or instances where customers may have

experienced financial harm. We are working with our regulatory
agencies in this effort, and we have accrued for the reasonably
estimable remediation costs related to these matters, which
amounts may change based on additional facts and information,
as well as ongoing reviews and communications with our
regulators. As part of this effort, we are focused on the following
key areas:

+ Automobile Lending Business The Company is
reviewing practices concerning the origination, servicing,
and/or collection of consumer automobile loans,
including matters related to certain insurance products,
and is providing remediation to the extent it identifies
affected customers. For example:

o InJuly 2017, the Company announced it would
remediate customers who may have been financially
harmed due to issues related to automobile collateral
protection insurance (CPI) policies purchased
through a third-party vendor on their behalf (based
on an understanding that the borrowers did not have
physical damage insurance coverage on their
automobiles as required during the term of their
automobile loans). The practice of placing CPI had
been previously discontinued by the Company. The
Company is in the process of providing remediation
to affected customers and/or letters to affected
customers through which they may claim or
otherwise receive remediation compensation for
policies placed between October 15, 2005, and
September 30, 2016.

s The Company has identified certain issues related to
the unused portion of guaranteed automobile
protection waiver or insurance agreements between
the customer and dealer and, by assignment, the
lender, which will result in remediation to customers
in certain states. The Company is in the process of
providing remediation to affected customers.

« Mortgage Interest Rate Lock Extensions In October
2017, the Company announced plans to reach out to all
home lending customers who paid fees for mortgage rate
lock extensions requested from September 16, 2013,
through February 28, 2017, and to provide refunds, with
interest, to customers who believe they should not have paid
those fees. The plan to issue refunds follows an internal
review that determined a rate lock extension policy
implemented in September 2013 was, at times, not
consistently applied, resulting in some borrowers being
charged fees in cases where the Company was primarily
responsible for the delays that made the extensions
necessary. Effective March 1, 2017, the Company changed
how it manages the mortgage rate lock extension process by
establishing a centralized review team that reviews all rate
lock extension requests for consistent application of the
policy. Although the Company believes a substantial
number of the rate lock extension fees during the period in
question were appropriately charged under its policy, due to
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our customer-oriented remediation approach, we have
issued refunds and interest to substantially all of our
customers who paid rate lock extension fees during the
period in question. We have substantially completed the
remediation process.

Add-on Products The Company is reviewing practices
related to certain consumer “add-on” products, including
identity theft and debt protection products that were
subject to an OCC consent order entered into in June 2015,
as well as home and automobile warranty products, and
memberships in discount programs. The products were
sold to customers through a number of distribution
channels and, in some cases, were acquired by the
Company in connection with the purchase of loans. Sales
of certain of these products have been discontinued over
the past few years primarily due to decisions made by the
Company in the normal course of business, and by
mid-2017, the Company had ceased selling any of these
products to consumers. We are in the process of providing
remediation where we identify affected customers, and are
also providing refunds to customers who purchased
certain products. The review of the Company’s historical
practices with respect to these products is ongoing,
focusing on, among other topics, sales practices, adequacy
of disclosures, customer servicing, and volume and type of
customer complaints.

Consumer Deposit Account Freezing/Closing

The Company is reviewing procedures regarding the
freezing (and, in many cases, closing) of consumer
deposit accounts after the Company detected suspected
fraudulent activity (by third-parties or account holders)
that affected those accounts. This review is ongoing.
Review of Certain Activities Within Wealth and
Investment Management A review of certain
activities within Wealth and Investment Management
(WIM) being conducted by the Board, in response to
inquiries from federal government agencies, is assessing
whether there have been inappropriate referrals or
recommendations, including with respect to rollovers for
401(k) plan participants, certain alternative investments,
or referrals of brokerage customers to the Company’s
investment and fiduciary services business. The Board’s
review is substantially completed and has not, to date,
uncovered evidence of systemic or widespread issues in
these businesses. Federal government agencies continue
to review this matter.

Fiduciary and Custody Account Fee Calculations
The Company is reviewing fee calculations within certain
fiduciary and custody accounts in its investment and
fiduciary services business, which is part of the wealth
management business in WIM. The Company has
determined that there have been instances of incorrect
fees being applied to certain assets and accounts,
resulting in both overcharges and undercharges to
customers. These issues include the incorrect set-up and
maintenance in the system of record of the values
associated with certain assets. Systems, operations, and
account-level reviews are underway to determine the
extent of any assets and accounts affected, and root
cause analyses are being performed with the assistance
of third parties. These reviews are ongoing and, as a
result of its reviews to date, the Company has suspended
the charging of fees on some assets and accounts, has
notified the affected customers, and is continuing its
analysis of those assets and accounts. The review of

customer accounts is ongoing to determine the extent of
any additional necessary remediation, including with
respect to additional accounts not yet reviewed, which
may lead to additional accruals and fee suspensions.

« Foreign Exchange Business The Company has
completed an assessment, with the assistance of a third
party, of its policies, practices, and procedures in its
foreign exchange (FX) business. The FX business
continues to revise and implement new policies,
practices, and procedures, including those related to
pricing. The Company has begun providing remediation
to customers that may have received pricing inconsistent
with commitments made to those customers, and rebates
to customers where historic pricing, while consistent
with contracts entered into with those customers, does
not conform to the Company’s recently implemented
standards and pricing. The Company’s review of affected
customers is ongoing.

+ Mortgage Loan Modifications An internal review of
the Company’s use of a mortgage loan modification
underwriting tool identified a calculation error regarding
foreclosure attorneys’ fees affecting certain accounts that
were in the foreclosure process between April 13, 2010,
and October 2, 2015, when the error was corrected. A
subsequent expanded review identified related errors
regarding the maximum allowable foreclosure attorneys’
fees permitted for certain accounts that were in the
foreclosure process between March 15, 2010, and
April 30, 2018, when new controls were implemented.
Similar to the initial calculation error, these errors
caused an overstatement of the attorneys’ fees that were
included for purposes of determining whether a
customer qualified for a mortgage loan modification or
repayment plan pursuant to the requirements of
government-sponsored enterprises (such as Fannie Mae
and Freddie Mac), the Federal Housing Administration
(FHA), and the U.S. Department of Treasury’s Home
Affordable Modification Program (HAMP). Customers
were not actually charged the incorrect attorneys’ fees.
As previously disclosed, the Company has identified
customers who, as a result of these errors, were
incorrectly denied a loan modification or were not
offered a loan modification or repayment plan in cases
where they otherwise would have qualified, as well as
instances where a foreclosure was completed after the
loan modification was denied or the customer was
deemed ineligible to be offered a loan modification or
repayment plan. The number of previously disclosed
customers affected by these errors may change as a
result of ongoing validation, but is not expected to have
changed materially upon completion of this validation.
The Company has contacted substantially all of the
identified customers affected by these errors and has
provided remediation as well as the option to pursue no-
cost mediation with an independent mediator. The
Company’s review of its mortgage loan modification
practices is ongoing, and we are providing remediation
to the extent we identify additional affected customers as
a result of this review.

To the extent issues are identified, we will continue to
assess any customer harm and provide remediation as
appropriate. This effort to identify other instances in which
customers may have experienced harm is ongoing, and it is
possible that we may identify other areas of potential concern.
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For more information, including related legal and regulatory
risk, see the “Risk Factors” section and Note 16 (Legal Actions)
to Financial Statements in this Report.

Financial Performance

In 2018, we generated $22.4 billion of net income and diluted

earnings per common share (EPS) of $4.28, compared with

$22.2 billion of net income and EPS of $4.10 for 2017. We grew

average commercial and industrial, and average real estate 1-4

family first mortgage loans compared with 2017, maintained

strong capital and liquidity levels, and rewarded our

shareholders by increasing our dividend and continuing to

repurchase shares of our common stock. Our achievements

during 2018 continued to demonstrate the benefit of our

diversified business model and our ability to generate consistent

financial performance. We remain focused on meeting the

financial needs of our customers. Noteworthy financial

performance items for 2018 (compared with 2017) included:

« revenue of $86.4 billion, down from $88.4 billion, which
included net interest income of $50.0 billion, up
$438 million, or 1%;

«  average loans of $945.2 billion, down 1%;

«  average deposits of $1.3 trillion, down $28.8 billion, or 2%;

+  return on assets (ROA) of 1.19% and return on equity (ROE)
of 11.53%, up from 1.15% and 11.35%, respectively, a year
ago;

+ our credit results improved with a net charge-off rate of
0.29%, compared with 0.31% a year ago;

« nonaccrual loans of $6.5 billion, down $1.2 billion, or 15%,
from a year ago; and

+  $25.8 billion in capital returned to our shareholders
through increased common stock dividends and additional
net share repurchases, up 78% from a year ago.

Table 1 presents a six-year summary of selected financial
data and Table 2 presents selected ratios and per common share
data.

Balance Sheet and Liquidity

Our balance sheet remained strong during 2018 with strong
credit quality and solid levels of liquidity and capital. Our total
assets were $1.90 trillion at December 31, 2018. Cash and other
short-term investments decreased $42.5 billion from
December 31, 2017, reflecting lower deposit balances. Debt
securities grew $11.3 billion, or 2%, from December 31, 2017.

Our loan portfolio declined $3.7 billion from December 31, 2017.

Growth in commercial and industrial loans and real estate 1-4
family first mortgage loans was more than offset by declines in
commercial real estate mortgage, real estate 1-4 family junior
lien mortgage and automobile loans.

Deposits at December 31, 2018, were down $49.8 billion, or
4%, from 2017. The decline was driven by a decrease in
commercial deposits from financial institutions, which includes
actions the Company took in the first half of 2018 in response to
the asset cap, and a decline in consumer and small business
banking deposits. Our average deposit cost increased 21 basis
points from a year ago driven by an increase in Wholesale
Banking and Wealth and Investment Management deposit rates.

Credit Quality

Credit quality remained solid in 2018, driven by continued
strong performance in the commercial and consumer real estate
portfolios. Performance in several of our commercial and
consumer loan portfolios remained near historically low loss
levels and reflected our long-term risk focus. Net charge-offs
were $2.7 billion, or 0.29% of average loans, in 2018, compared
with $2.9 billion, or 0.31%, in 2017.

Net losses in our commercial portfolio were $429 million, or
9 basis points of average commercial loans, in 2018, compared
with $446 million, or 9 basis points, in 2017, driven by
decreased losses in our commercial and industrial loan portfolio.
Net consumer losses decreased to 52 basis points of average
consumer loans in 2018, compared with 55 basis points in 2017.
Losses in our consumer real estate portfolios declined
$93 million in 2018 to a net recovery position. The consumer
loss levels reflected decreased losses in our automobile and other
revolving and installment loan portfolios, lower losses in our
residential real estate portfolios due to the benefit of the
improving housing market, and our continued focus on
originating high quality loans.

The allowance for credit losses of $10.7 billion at
December 31, 2018, declined $1.3 billion from the prior year.
Our provision for credit losses in 2018 was $1.7 billion,
compared with $2.5 billion in 2017, reflecting a release of
$1.0 billion in the allowance for credit losses, compared with a
release of $400 million in 2017. The release in 2018 and 2017
was due to strong underlying credit performance.

Nonperforming assets (NPAs) at the end of 2018 were
$6.9 billion, down 16% from the end of 2017. Nonaccrual loans
declined $1.2 billion from the prior year end while foreclosed
assets were down $191 million from 2017.

Capital

Our financial performance in 2018 allowed us to maintain a solid
capital position with total equity of $197.1 billion at

December 31, 2018, compared with $208.1 billion at

December 31, 2017. We returned $25.8 billion to shareholders in
2018 ($14.5 billion in 2017) through common stock dividends
and net share repurchases, and our net payout ratio (which is the
ratio of (i) common stock dividends and share repurchases less
issuances and stock compensation-related items, divided by (ii)
net income applicable to common stock) was 125%. During 2018
we increased our quarterly common stock dividend from $0.39
to $0.43 per share. Our common shares outstanding declined by
310.4 million shares, or 6%, as we continued to reduce our
common share count through the repurchase of 375.5 million
common shares during the year. We expect our share count to
continue to decline in 2019 as a result of anticipated net share
repurchases.

We believe an important measure of our capital strength is
the Common Equity Tier 1 ratio on a fully phased-in basis, which
was 11.74% as of December 31, 2018, down from 11.98% a year
ago, but still well above our internal target of 10%. Likewise, our
other regulatory capital ratios remained strong. See the “Capital
Management” section in this Report for more information
regarding our capital, including the calculation of our regulatory
capital amounts.
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Overview (continued)

Table 1: Six-Year Summary of Selected Financial Data

% Five-year
Change compound

(in millions, except per share 2018/ growth

amounts) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2017 rate
Income statement
Net interest income $ 49,995 49,557 47,754 45,301 43,527 42,800 1% 3
Noninterest income 36,413 38,832 40,513 40,756 40,820 40,980 (6) (2)

Revenue 86,408 88,389 88,267 86,057 84,347 83,780 (2) 1
Provision for credit losses 1,744 2,528 3,770 2,442 1,395 2,309 (31) (5)
Noninterest expense 56,126 58,484 52,377 49,974 49,037 48,842 (4) 3
Net income before noncontrolling

interests 22,876 22,460 22,045 23,276 23,608 22,224 2 1
Less: Net income from

noncontrolling interests 483 277 107 382 551 346 74 7
Wells Fargo net income 22,393 22,183 21,938 22,894 23,057 21,878 1 -
Earnings per common share 4.31 4.14 4.03 4.18 4.17 3.95 4 2
Diluted earnings per common share 4.28 4.10 3.99 4.12 4.10 3.89 4 2
Dividends declared per common

share 1.640 1.540 1.515 1.475 1.350 1.150 6 7
Balance sheet (at year end)
Debt securities $ 484,689 473,366 459,038 394,744 350,661 298,241 2% 10
Loans 953,110 956,770 967,604 916,559 862,551 822,286 - 3
Allowance for loan losses 9,775 11,004 11,419 11,545 12,319 14,502 (11) (8)
Goodwill 26,418 26,587 26,693 25,529 25,705 25,637 (1) 1
Equity securities 55,148 62,497 49,110 40,266 44,005 32,227 (12) 11
Assets 1,895,883 1,951,757 1,930,115 1,787,632 1,687,155 1,523,502 (3) 4
Deposits 1,286,170 1,335,991 1,306,079 1,223,312 1,168,310 1,079,177 (4) 4
Long-term debt 229,044 225,020 255,077 199,536 183,943 152,998 2 8
Wells Fargo stockholders’ equity 196,166 206,936 199,581 192,998 184,394 170,142 (5) 3
Noncontrolling interests 900 1,143 916 893 868 866 (21) 1
Total equity 197,066 208,079 200,497 193,891 185,262 171,008 (5) 3
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Table 2: Ratios and Per Common Share Data

Year ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Profitability ratios
Wells Fargo net income to average assets (ROA) 1.19% 1.15 1.16
Wells Fargo net income applicable to common stock to average Wells Fargo common
stockholders’ equity (ROE) 11.53 11.35 11.49
Return on average tangible common equity (ROTCE) (1) 13.73 13.55 13.85
Efficiency ratio (2) 65.0 66.2 59.3
Capital ratios (3)
At year end:
Wells Fargo common stockholders’ equity to assets 9.20 9.38 9.14
Total equity to assets 10.39 10.66 10.39
Risk-based capital (4):
Common Equity Tier 1 11.74 12.28 11.13
Tier 1 capital 13.46 14.14 12.82
Total capital 16.60 17.46 16.04
Tier 1 leverage 9.07 9.35 8.95
Average balances:
Average Wells Fargo common stockholders’ equity to average assets 9.50 9.37 9.40
Average total equity to average assets 10.77 10.64 10.64
Per common share data
Dividend payout (5) 38.3 37.6 38.0
Book value (6) $ 38.06 37.44 35.18

(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)

(5)
(6)

Tangible common equity is a non-GAAP financial measure and represents total equity less preferred equity, noncontrolling interests, and goodwill and certain identifiable
intangible assets (including goodwill and intangible assets associated with certain of our nonmarketable equity securities, but excluding mortgage servicing rights), net of
applicable deferred taxes. The methodology of determining tangible common equity may differ among companies. Management believes that return on average tangible
common equity, which utilizes tangible common equity, is a useful financial measure because it enables investors and others to assess the Company’s use of equity. For
additional information, including a corresponding reconciliation to GAAP financial measures, see the “Capital Management - Tangible Common Equity” section in this Report.

The efficiency ratio is noninterest expense divided by total revenue (net interest income and noninterest income).

See the “Capital Management” section and Note 28 (Regulatory and Agency Capital Requirements) to Financial Statements in this Report for additional information.

The risk-based capital ratios were calculated under the lower of Standardized or Advanced Approach determined pursuant to Basel III. Beginning January 1, 2018, the
requirements for calculating common equity tier 1 and tier 1 capital, along with risk-weighted assets, became fully phased-in; Accordingly, the information presented
reflects fully phased-in common equity tier 1 capital, tier 1 capital and risk-weighted assets but reflects total capital still in accordance with Transition Requirements. See

the “Capital Management” section and Note 28 (Regulatory and Agency Capital Requirements) to Financial Statements in this Report for additional information.

Dividend payout ratio is dividends declared per common share as a percentage of diluted earnings per common share.
Book value per common share is common stockholders’ equity divided by common shares outstanding.

Wells Fargo & Company

47



Earnings Performance

Wells Fargo net income for 2018 was $22.4 billion ($4.28
diluted earnings per common share), compared with

$22.2 billion ($4.10 diluted per share) for 2017 and $21.9 billion
($3.99 diluted per share) for 2016. Our financial performance in
2018 benefited from a $438 million increase in net interest
income, a $784 million decrease in our provision for credit
losses, and a $2.4 billion decrease in noninterest expense,
partially offset by a $2.4 billion decrease in noninterest income,
and a $745 million increase in income tax expense.

Revenue, the sum of net interest income and noninterest
income, was $86.4 billion in 2018, compared with $88.4 billion
in 2017 and $88.3 billion in 2016. The decrease in revenue for
2018 compared with 2017 was predominantly due to a decrease
in noninterest income, reflecting decreases in mortgage banking
income, insurance income, service charges on deposit accounts,
and net gains (losses) from debt and equity securities, partially
offset by an increase in all other noninterest income. Our
diversified sources of revenue generated by our businesses
continued to be balanced between net interest income and
noninterest income. In 2018, net interest income of $50.0 billion
represented 58% of revenue, compared with $49.6 billion (56%)
in 2017 and $47.8 billion (54%) in 2016. Table 3 presents the
components of revenue and noninterest expense as a percentage
of revenue for year-over-year results.

See later in this section for discussions of net interest
income, noninterest income and noninterest expense.
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Table 3: Net Interest Income, Noninterest Income and Noninterest Expense as a Percentage of Revenue

Year ended December 31,

% of % of % of
(in millions) 2018 revenue 2017 revenue 2016 revenue
Interest income (on a taxable-equivalent basis)
Debt securities $ 14,947 17% $ 14,084 15% $ 12,328 14%
Mortgage loans held for sale (MLHFS) 777 1 786 1 784 1
Loans held for sale (LHFS) 140 - 50 3 38 -
Loans 44,086 51 41,551 47 39,630 45
Equity securities 999 821 1 669 1
Other interest income 4,359 2,941 3 1,457 2
Total interest income (on a taxable-equivalent basis) 65,308 76 60,233 68 54,906 62
Interest expense (on a taxable-equivalent basis)
Deposits 5,622 7 3,013 3 1,395 2
Short-term borrowings 1,719 2 761 1 333 —
Long-term debt 6,703 8 5,157 6 3,830 5
Other interest expense 610 1 424 — 354 —
Total interest expense (on a taxable-equivalent basis) 14,654 17 9,355 11 5,912 7
Net interest income (on a taxable-equivalent basis) 50,654 59 50,878 57 48,994 55
Taxable-equivalent adjustment (659) (1) (1,321) (1) (1,240) (1)
Net interest income (A) 49,995 58 49,557 56 47,754 54
Noninterest income
Service charges on deposit accounts 4,716 5 5111 6 5,372 6
Trust and investment fees (1) 14,509 17 14,495 16 14,243 16
Card fees 3,907 5 3,960 4 3,936 5
Other fees (1) 3,384 4 3,557 4 3,727 4
Mortgage banking (1) 3,017 3 4,350 5 6,096 7
Insurance 429 - 1,049 1 1,268 2
Net gains from trading activities 602 1 542 1 610 1
Net gains on debt securities 108 - 479 1 942 1
Net gains from equity securities 1,515 2 1,779 2 1,103 1
Lease income 1,753 2 1,907 2 1,927 2
Other (1) 2,473 3 1,603 2 1,289 1
Total noninterest income (B) 36,413 42 38,832 44 40,513 46
Noninterest expense
Salaries 17,834 21 17,363 20 16,552 19
Commission and incentive compensation 10,264 12 10,442 12 10,247 12
Employee benefits 4,926 6 5,566 6 5,094 6
Equipment 2,444 3 2,237 3 2,154 2
Net occupancy 2,888 3 2,849 3 2,855 3
Core deposit and other intangibles 1,058 1 1,152 1 1,192 1
FDIC and other deposit assessments 1,110 1 1,287 1 1,168 1
Operating losses 3,124 4 5,492 6 1,608 2
Outside professional services 3,306 4 3,813 4 3,138 4
Other (2) 9,172 11 8,283 9 8,369 9
Total noninterest expense 56,126 65 58,484 66 52,377 59
Revenue (A) + (B) $ 86,408 $ 88,389 $ 88,267
(1) See Table 7 - Noninterest Income in this Report for additional detail.
(2) See Table 8 - Noninterest Expense in this Report for additional detail.
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Earnings Performance (continued)

Net Interest Income

Net interest income is the interest earned on debt securities,
loans (including yield-related loan fees) and other interest-
earning assets minus the interest paid on deposits, short-term
borrowings and long-term debt. Net interest margin is the
average yield on earning assets minus the average interest rate
paid for deposits and our other sources of funding. Net interest
income and the net interest margin are presented on a taxable-
equivalent basis in Table 5 to consistently reflect income from
taxable and tax-exempt loans and debt and equity securities
based on a 21% and 35% federal statutory tax rate for the periods
ending December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Net interest income and the net interest margin in any one
period can be significantly affected by a variety of factors
including the mix and overall size of our earning assets portfolio
and the cost of funding those assets. In addition, some variable
sources of interest income, such as resolutions from purchased
credit-impaired (PCI) loans, loan fees, periodic dividends, and
collection of interest on nonaccrual loans, can vary from period
to period.

Net interest income on a taxable-equivalent basis was
$50.7 billion in 2018, compared with $50.9 billion in 2017, and
$49.0 billion in 2016. The decrease in net interest income in
2018, compared with 2017, was driven by:

+  lower loan swap income due to unwinding the receive-fixed
loan swap portfolio;

+ lower tax-equivalent net interest income from updated tax-
equivalent factors reflecting new tax law;

« asmaller balance sheet and unfavorable mix;

+  higher premium amortization; and

« unfavorable hedge ineffectiveness accounting results;

partially offset by:

+  the net repricing benefit of higher interest rates; and

+  higher variable income.

The increase in net interest income for 2017, compared with
2016, was driven by growth in earning assets and the benefit of
higher interest rates, partially offset by growth and repricing of
long-term debt. Deposit interest expense also increased in 2017,
largely due to an increase in wholesale and Wealth and
Investment Management (WIM) deposit pricing resulting from
higher interest rates.

Net interest margin on a taxable-equivalent basis
was 2.91% in 2018, compared with 2.87% in 2017 and 2.86% in
2016. The increase in net interest margin in 2018, compared
with 2017, was driven by:

+  the net repricing benefit of higher interest rates;

+  runoff of lower yielding assets and other favorable mix; and

+  higher variable income;

partially offset by:

+  lower loan swap income due to unwinding the receive-fixed
loan swap portfolio;

+ lower tax-equivalent net interest income from updated tax-
equivalent factors reflecting new tax law;

+  higher premium amortization; and

« unfavorable hedge ineffectiveness accounting results.

The slight increase in net interest margin in 2017, compared
with 2016, was due to the repricing benefits of earning assets
from higher interest rates exceeding the repricing costs of
deposits and market based funding sources.

Table 4 presents the components of earning assets and
funding sources as a percentage of earning assets to provide a
more meaningful analysis of year-over-year changes that
influenced net interest income.

Average earning assets decreased $38.1 billion in 2018
compared with 2017. The decrease was driven by:

«  average loans decreased $10.9 billion in 2018;
«  average interest-earning deposits decreased $45.5 billion in

2018;
partially offset by:

»  average federal funds sold and securities purchased under

resale agreements increased $3.9 billion in 2018;

»  average debt securities increased $13.8 billion in 2018; and
«  average equity securities increased $2.0 billion in 2018.

Deposits are an important low-cost source of funding and
affect both net interest income and the net interest margin.
Deposits include noninterest-bearing deposits, interest-bearing
checking, market rate and other savings, savings certificates,
other time deposits, and deposits in foreign offices. Average
deposits decreased to $1.28 trillion in 2018, compared with
$1.30 trillion in 2017, and represented 135% of average loans in
2018, compared with 136% in 2017. Average deposits were 73%
of average earning assets in both 2018 and 2017.

Table 5 presents the individual components of net interest
income and the net interest margin. The effect on interest
income and costs of earning asset and funding mix changes
described above, combined with rate changes during 2018, are
analyzed in Table 6.
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Table 4: Average Earning Assets and Funding Sources as a Percentage of Average Earning Assets

Year ended December 31,

2018 2017
. . Average % of earning Average % of earning
(in millions) balance assets balance assets
Earning assets
Interest-earning deposits with banks $ 156,366 9% $ 201,864 12%
Federal funds sold, securities purchased under resale agreements 78,547 5 74,697 4
Debt securities:
Trading debt securities 83,526 5 74,475 4
Available-for-sale debt securities:
Securities of U.S. Treasury and federal agencies 6,618 - 15,966 1
Securities of U.S. states and political subdivisions 47,884 3 52,658 3
Mortgage-backed securities:
Federal agencies 156,052 9 145,310 8
Residential and commercial 7,769 - 11,839 1
Total mortgage-backed securities 163,821 9 157,149 9
Other debt securities 46,875 3 48,714 3
Total available-for-sale debt securities 265,198 15 274,487 16
Held-to-maturity debt securities:
Securities of U.S. Treasury and federal agencies 44,735 3 44,705 3
Securities of U.S. states and political subdivisions 6,253 - 6,268 —
Federal agency mortgage-backed securities 94,216 5 78,330 4
Other debt securities 361 - 2,194 —
Held-to-maturity debt securities 145,565 8 131,497 7
Total debt securities 494,289 28 480,459 27
Mortgage loans held for sale (1) 18,394 1 20,780 1
Loans held for sale (1) 2,526 - 1,487 —
Commercial loans:
Commercial and industrial - U.S. 275,656 16 272,034 16
Commercial and industrial - Non-U.S. 60,718 4 57,198 3
Real estate mortgage 122,947 7 129,990 7
Real estate construction 23,609 1 24,813 1
Lease financing 19,392 1 19,128 1
Total commercial loans 502,322 29 503,163 28
Consumer loans:
Real estate 1-4 family first mortgage 284,178 16 277,751 16
Real estate 1-4 family junior lien mortgage 36,687 2 42,780 3
Credit card 36,780 2 35,600 2
Automobile 48,115 3 57,900 3
Other revolving credit and installment 37,115 2 38,935 2
Total consumer loans 442,875 25 452,966 26
Total loans (1) 945,197 54 956,129 54
Equity securities 38,092 2 36,105 2
Other 5,071 1 5,069 —
Total earning assets $ 1,738,482 100% $ 1,776,590 100%
Funding sources
Deposits:
Interest-bearing checking $ 63,243 4% $ 49,474 3%
Market rate and other savings 684,882 39 682,053 39
Savings certificates 20,653 1 22,190 1
Other time deposits 84,822 5 61,625 3
Deposits in foreign offices 63,945 4 123,816 7
Total interest-bearing deposits 917,545 53 939,158 53
Short-term borrowings 104,267 6 98,922 6
Long-term debt 224,268 13 246,195 14
Other liabilities 27,648 1 21,872 1
Total interest-bearing liabilities 1,273,728 73 1,306,147 74
Portion of noninterest-bearing funding sources 464,754 27 470,443 26
Total funding sources $ 1,738,482 100% $ 1,776,590 100%
Noninterest-earning assets
Cash and due from banks $ 18,777 18,622
Goodwill 26,453 26,629
Other 105,180 111,164
Total noninterest-earning assets $ 150,410 156,415
Noninterest-bearing funding sources
Deposits $ 358,312 365,464
Other liabilities 53,496 55,740
Total equity 203,356 205,654
Noninterest-bearing funding sources used to fund earning assets (464,754) (470,443)
Net noninterest-bearing funding sources $ 150,410 156,415
Total assets $ 1,888,892 1,933,005
(1) Nonaccrual loans are included in their respective loan categories.
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Earnings Performance (continued)

Table 5: Average Balances, Yields and Rates Paid (Taxable-Equivalent Basis) (1)(2)

2018 2017
Average Yields/ i{unct::es/t Average Yields/ },;‘fg{ﬁg}
(in millions) balance rates expense balance rates expense
Earning assets
Interest-earning deposits with banks (3) $ 156,366 1.82% $ 2,854 201,864 1.07% $ 2,162
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements (3) 78,547 1.82 1,431 74,697 0.98 735
Debt securities (4):
Trading debt securities 83,526 3.42 2,856 74,475 3.16 2,356
Available-for-sale debt securities:
Securities of U.S. Treasury and federal agencies 6,618 1.70 112 15,966 1.49 239
Securities of U.S. states and political subdivisions 47,884 3.77 1,806 52,658 3.95 2,082
Mortgage-backed securities:
Federal agencies 156,052 2.79 4,348 145,310 2.60 3,782
Residential and commercial 7,769 4.62 358 11,839 5.33 631
Total mortgage-backed securities 163,821 2.87 4,706 157,149 2.81 4,413
Other debt securities 46,875 4.22 1,980 48,714 3.68 1,794
Total available-for-sale debt securities 265,198 3.24 8,604 274,487 3.11 8,528
Held-to-maturity debt securities:
Securities of U.S. Treasury and federal agencies 44,735 2.19 980 44,705 2.19 979
Securities of U.S. states and political subdivisions 6,253 4.34 271 6,268 5.32 334
Federal agency and other mortgage-backed securities 94,216 2.36 2,221 78,330 2.34 1,832
Other debt securities 361 4.00 15 2,194 2.50 55
Held-to-maturity debt securities 145,565 2.40 3,487 131,497 2.43 3,200
Total debt securities 494,289 3.02 14,947 480,459 2.93 14,084
Mortgage loans held for sale (5) 18,394 4.22 777 20,780 3.78 786
Loans held for sale (5) 2,526 5.56 140 1,487 3.40 50
Commercial:
Commercial and industrial - U.S. 275,656 4.16 11,465 272,034 3.75 10,196
Commercial and industrial - Non-U.S. 60,718 3.53 2,143 57,198 2.86 1,639
Real estate mortgage 122,947 4.29 5,279 129,990 3.74 4,859
Real estate construction 23,609 4.94 1,167 24,813 4.10 1,017
Lease financing 19,392 4.74 919 19,128 3.74 715
Total commercial loans 502,322 4.18 20,973 503,163 3.66 18,426
Consumer: _—
Real estate 1-4 family first mortgage 284,178 4.04 11,481 277,751 4.03 11,206
Real estate 1-4 family junior lien mortgage 36,687 5.38 1,975 42,780 4.82 2,062
Credit card 36,780 12.72 4,678 35,600 12.23 4,355
Automobile 48,115 5.18 2,491 57,900 5.34 3,094
Other revolving credit and installment 37,115 6.70 2,488 38,935 6.18 2,408
Total consumer loans 442,875 5.22 23,113 452,966 5.11 23,125
Total loans (5) 945,197 4.66 44,086 956,129 4.35 41,551
Equity securities 38,092 2.62 999 36,105 2.27 821
Other 5,071 1.46 74 5,069 0.85 44
Total earning assets $ 1,738,482 3.76% _$___65308 1,776,590 3.40% $ 60,233
Funding sources
Deposits:
Interest-bearing checking $ 63,243 0.96% $ 606 49,474 0.49% $ 242
Market rate and other savings 684,882 0.31 2,157 682,053 0.14 983
Savings certificates 20,653 0.57 118 22,190 0.30 67
Other time deposits 84,822 2.25 1,906 61,625 1.43 880
Deposits in foreign offices 63,945 1.30 835 123,816 0.68 841
Total interest-bearing deposits 917,545 0.61 5,622 939,158 0.32 3,013
Short-term borrowings 104,267 1.65 1,719 98,922 0.77 761
Long-term debt 224,268 2.99 6,703 246,195 2.09 5,157
Other liabilities 27,648 2.21 610 21,872 1.94 424
Total interest-bearing liabilities 1,273,728 1.15 14,654 1,306,147 0.72 9,355
Portion of noninterest-bearing funding sources 464,754 - —_ 470,443 - —
Total funding sources $ 1,738,482 0.85 14,654 1,776,590 0.53 9,355
Net interest margin and net interest income on a taxable-
equivalent basis (6) 2.91% $ 50,654 2.87% $ 50,878
Noninterest-earning assets
Cash and due from banks $ 18,777 18,622
Goodwill 26,453 26,629
Other 105,180 111,164
Total noninterest-earning assets $ 150‘410 156,415
Noninterest-bearing funding sources
Deposits $ 358,312 365,464
Other liabilities 53,496 55,740
Total equity 203,356 205,654
Noninterest-bearing funding sources used to fund earning assets (464,754) (470,443)
Net noninterest-bearing funding sources $ 150,410 156,415
Total assets $ 1,888‘892 1‘933 005

(1) Our average prime rate was 4.91% for the year ended December 31, 2018, 4.10% for the year ended December 31, 2017, 3.51% for the year ended December 31, 2016,
and 3.26% for the year ended December 31, 2015, and 3.25% for the year ended December 31, 2014. The average three-month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR)
was 2.31%, 1.26%, 0.74%, 0.32%, and 0.23% for the same years, respectively.

(2) Yield/rates and amounts include the effects of hedge and risk management activities associated with the respective asset and liability categories.

(3) Financial information for the prior periods has been revised to reflect the impact of our adoption of Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-18 - Statement of Cash Flows
(Topic 230): Restricted Cash in which we changed the presentation of our cash and cash equivalents to include both cash and due from banks as well as interest-earning
deposits with banks, which are inclusive of any restricted cash.
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2016 2015 2014
Average Yields/ ilr?(fgﬁg/t Average Yields/ ilr?ctgrrﬁgf Average Yields/ fﬁfg{ﬁg}
balance rates expense balance rates expense balance rates expense
$ 225,955 0.51% $ 1,161 222,773 0.27% $ 605 209,686 0.26% $ 554
61,763 0.48 296 44,059 0.30 133 31,596 0.38 119
70,195 2.97 2,082 51,551 3.16 1,627 43,108 3.23 1,392
29,418 1.56 457 32,093 1.58 505 10,400 1.64 171
52,959 4.20 2,225 47,404 4.23 2,007 43,138 4.29 1,852
110,637 2.50 2,764 100,218 2.73 2,733 114,076 2.84 3,235
18,725 5.49 1,029 22,490 5.73 1,289 26,475 6.03 1,597
129,362 2.93 3,793 122,708 3.28 4,022 140,551 3.44 4,832
52,731 3.36 1,771 48,515 3.32 1,609 45,759 3.57 1,635
264,470 3.12 8,246 250,720 3.25 8,143 239,848 3.54 8,490
44,675 2.19 979 44,173 2.19 968 17,239 2.23 385
2,893 5.32 154 2,087 5.40 113 246 4.93 12
39,330 2.00 786 21,967 2.23 489 5,921 2.55 151
4,043 2.01 81 5,821 1.73 101 5,913 1.85 109
90,941 2.20 2,000 74,048 2.26 1,671 29,319 2.24 657
425,606 2.90 12,328 376,319 3.04 11,441 312,275 3.37 10,539
22,412 3.50 784 21,603 3.63 785 19,018 4.03 767
1,361 2.76 38 1,651 2.59 43 5,585 2.02 113
268,182 3.45 9,243 237,844 3.29 7,836 204,819 3.35 6,869
51,601 2.36 1,219 46,028 1.90 877 42,661 2.03 867
127,232 3.44 4,371 116,893 3.41 3,984 112,710 3.64 4,100
23,197 3.55 824 20,979 3.57 749 17,676 4.21 744
17,950 5.10 916 12,301 4.70 577 12,257 5.63 690
488,162 3.39 16,573 434,045 3.23 14,023 390,123 3.40 13,270
276,712 4.01 11,096 268,560 4.10 11,002 261,620 4.19 10,961
49,735 4.39 2,183 56,242 4.25 2,391 62,510 4.30 2,686
34,178 11.62 3,970 31,307 11.70 3,664 27,491 11.98 3,294
61,566 5.62 3,458 57,766 5.84 3,374 53,854 6.27 3,377
39,607 5.93 2,350 37,512 5.89 2,209 38,834 5.48 2,127
461,798 4.99 23,057 451,387 5.02 22,640 444,309 5.05 22,445
949,960 4.17 39,630 885,432 4.14 36,663 834,432 4.28 35,715
27,417 2.44 669 23,921 2.94 703 21,125 3.08 650
§ 1i714 474 3.21% $ 54,906 1,575,758 3.20% $ 50,373 1,433,717 3.39% § 48,457
$ 42,379 0.14% $ 60 38,640 0.05% $ 20 39,729 0.07% $ 26
663,557 0.07 449 625,549 0.06 367 585,854 0.07 403
25,912 0.35 91 31,887 0.63 201 38,111 0.85 323
55,846 0.91 508 51,790 0.45 232 51,434 0.40 207
103,206 0.28 287 107,138 0.13 143 95,889 0.14 137
890,900 0.16 1,395 855,004 0.11 963 811,017 0.14 1,096
115,187 0.29 333 87,465 0.07 64 60,111 0.10 62
239,471 1.60 3,830 185,078 1.40 2,592 167,420 1.49 2,488
16,702 2.12 354 16,545 2.15 357 14,401 2.65 382
1,262,260 0.47 5,912 1,144,092 0.35 3,976 1,052,949 0.38 4,028
452,214 — — 431,666 - — 380,768 - —
$ 1,714,474 0.35 5912 1,575,758 0.25 3,976 1,433,717 0.28 4,028
2.86% $ 48,994 2.95% $ 46,397 3.11% $ 44,429
$ 18,617 17,327 16,361
26,700 25,673 25,687
125,650 124,161 117,584
$ 170,967 167,161 159,632
$ 359,666 339,069 303,127
62,825 68,174 56,985
200,690 191,584 180,288
(452,214) (431,666) (380,768)
170,967 167,161 159,632
$__1,885441 1,742,919 1,593,349

(4) Yields and rates are based on interest income/expense amounts for the period. The average balance amounts represent amortized cost for the periods presented.

(5) Nonaccrual loans and related income are included in their respective loan categories.

(6) Includes taxable-equivalent adjustments of $659 million, $1.3 billion, $1.2 billion, $1.1 billion and $902 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015
and 2014, respectively, predominantly related to tax-exempt income on certain loans and securities. The federal statutory tax rate utilized was 21% for the period ended

December 31, 2018, and 35% for the periods ended December 31, 2017, 2016, 2015 and 2014.
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Earnings Performance (continued)

Table 6 allocates the changes in net interest income on a
taxable-equivalent basis to changes in either average balances or
average rates for both interest-earning assets and interest-

bearing liabilities. Because of the numerous simultaneous

this table, changes that are not solely due to either volume or
rate are allocated to these categories on a pro-rata basis based on

the absolute value of the change due to average volume and
average rate.

volume and rate changes during any period, it is not possible to
precisely allocate such changes between volume and rate. For

Table 6: Analysis of Changes in Net Interest Income

Year ended December 31,

2018 over 2017

2017 over 2016

(in millions) Volume Rate Total Volume Rate Total
Increase (decrease) in interest income:
Interest-earning deposits with banks (1) $ (569) 1,261 692 (135) 1,136 1,001
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements (1) 40 656 696 73 366 439
Debt securities:
Trading debt securities 298 202 500 134 140 274
Available-for-sale debt securities:
Securities of U.S. Treasury and federal agencies (157) 30 (127) (198) (20) (218)
Securities of U.S. states and political subdivisions (184) (92) (276) (13) (130) (143)
Mortgage-backed securities:
Federal agencies 285 281 566 902 116 1,018
Residential and commercial (197) (76) (273) (369) (29) (398)
Total mortgage-backed securities 88 205 293 533 87 620
Other debt securities (70) 256 186 (140) 163 23
Total available-for-sale debt securities (323) 399 76 182 100 282
Held-to-maturity debt securities:
Securities of U.S. Treasury and federal agencies 1 - 1 — — —
Securities of U.S. states and political subdivisions (1) (62) (63) 180 — 180
Federal agency mortgage-backed securities 373 16 389 893 153 1,046
Other debt securities (62) 22 (40) (43) 17 (26)
Total held-to-maturity debt securities 311 (24) 287 1,030 170 1,200
Mortgage loans held for sale (95) 86 9) (59) 61 2
Loans held for sale 47 43 90 3 9 12
Commercial loans:
Commercial and industrial - U.S. 138 1,131 1,269 135 818 953
Commercial and industrial - Non-U.S. 105 399 504 142 278 420
Real estate mortgage (272) 692 420 97 391 488
Real estate construction (51) 201 150 59 134 193
Lease financing 10 194 204 57 (258) (201)
Total commercial loans (70) 2,617 2,547 490 1,363 1,853
Consumer loans:
Real estate 1-4 family first mortgage 248 27 275 48 62 110
Real estate 1-4 family junior lien mortgage (312) 225 (87) (323) 202 (121)
Credit card 146 177 323 170 215 385
Automobile (512) (91) (603) (198) (166) (364)
Other revolving credit and installment (116) 196 80 (40) 98 58
Total consumer loans (546) 534 (12) (343) 411 68
Total loans (616) 3,151 2,535 147 1,774 1,921
Equity securities 47 131 178 201 (49) 152
Other - 30 30 44 . 44
Total increase in interest income (1) (860) 5,935 5,075 1,620 3,707 5,327
Increase (decrease) in interest expense:
Deposits:
Interest-bearing checking 82 282 364 11 171 182
Market rate and other savings 4 1,170 1,174 14 520 534
Savings certificates (5) 56 51 (12) (12) (24)
Other time deposits 407 619 1,026 57 315 372
Deposits in foreign offices (534) 528 (6) 68 486 554
Total interest-bearing deposits (46) 2,655 2,609 138 1,480 1,618
Short-term borrowings 43 915 958 (53) 481 428
Long-term debt (495) 2,041 1,546 111 1,216 1,327
Other liabilities 122 64 186 102 (32) 70
Total increase in interest expense (376) 5,675 5,299 298 3,145 3,443
Increase (decrease) in net interest income on a taxable-equivalent basis $ (484) 260 (224) 1,322 562 1,884

(1) Financial information has been revised to reflect the impact of our adoption in first quarter 2018 of ASU 2016-18 - Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Res